Public Document Pack

CONDUCT COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, 31 OCTOBER 2018

Committee Officer: Izzi Hurst
Tel: 01354 622281
e-mail: memberservices@fenland.gov.uk

10.00 AM
COUNCIL CHAMBER, FENLAND HALL,
COUNTY ROAD, MARCH, CAMBS, PE15
8NQ
1 To receive apologies for absence.
2 Previous Minutes. (Pages 3 - 6)
To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting of 4 April 2018.
3 To report additional items for consideration which the chairman deems urgent by
virtue of the special circumstances to be now specified.
4 Members to declare any interests under the Local Code of Conduct in respect of any
item to be discussed at the meeting.
5 Conduct Committee Hearing - Councillor Simon King (Pages 7 - 306)
To consider a complaint under the Member Code of Conduct against Councillor
Simon King of Fenland District Council.
6 Items which the Chairman has under Item 3 deemed urgent.
Tuesday, 23 October 2018
Members: Councillor Miss S Hoy (Chairman), Councillor M Humphrey and Councillor R Skoulding & Tina
Gambell

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
CONDUCT COMMITTEE
4 APRIL 2018 - 3:00 P.M.
PRESENT: Councillor Miss S Hoy(Chairman),Councillor D Mason, Councillor R Skoulding,
Councillor A Donnelly,T Gambell, .
APOLOGIES: Councillor C Boden (Vice Chairman),Councillor M J Humphrey, Councillor N
Russell and C Hawden-Beal (Non Voting Substitute)
Officers in attendance: Anna Goodall (Head of Legal and Governance)
Fiona McMillan (Deputy Monitoring Officer and
Mrs J Goodrum (Member Services Officer)
CND3/17

PREVIOUS MINUTES

The minutes of the previous meeting of 5 October 2017, were agreed and signed as a true and
accurate record.
CND4/17

INITIAL CONSIDERATION OF A MEMBER CONDUCT COMPLAINT –
COUNCILLOR SIMON KING

The Chairman asked Fiona McMillan, the Deputy Monitoring Officer, to introduce the item to be
considered at today’s meeting.
Fiona McMillan advised Members that the complaint before them today, was raised by the
Monitoring Officer about the conduct of Councillor Simon King in relation to the submission of
mileage claims which appear to be over inflated. The complaint related to an apparent attempt to
claim for journeys outside of the Members Allowance scheme, which equated to £1,511.10 which
was paid to Councillor King and a further £736.65 which was claimed but not paid. In response to
this, Councillor King submitted a written response which the Committee had sight of and Members
have also been provided with all of the background paperwork concerning the Members Allowance
scheme and Code of Conduct.
At the pre- screening meeting the Chairman of the Conduct Committee and the Council’s
Independent Persons determined that it was appropriate for the complaint to go forward for
consideration by the Conduct Committee as they felt that a breach of the Code of Conduct may
have occurred and the relevant sections of the Code of Conduct where highlighted to Members.
These were:
●
●
●

The first Nolan Principle - ' Selflessness - Holders of public office should act solely in terms
of the public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or other benefits for
themselves, their family or their friends.
3.2: You must not; (e) conduct yourself in a manner, which could reasonably be regarded as
bringing your office or authority into disrepute.
6. You must:- 6.1. when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the
Authority:-(a) act in accordance with your Authorities reasonable requirements.
Page 3

Fiona McMillan advised the Committee that the pre screening panel had an extensive discussion
concerning the complaint and agreed that the complaint could not be described as 'vexatious,
trivial or tit- for - tat and it was unanimously agreed that the Code of Conduct may have been
breached and the matter should be brought before the Conduct Committee to determine.
The 2 options for the Committee to consider as to how to proceed were set out by Fiona McMillan.
These were either to:-,1) dismiss the complaint with no further action or 2) to commission an
independent investigation to consider all the issues raised and allow the Member the opportunity to
be heard at a hearing.
The pre-screening panel recommended that the Conduct Committee referred the complaint for a
formal investigation but it was down to the Conduct Committee to decide if it agreed with this
recommendation.
Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as below:
●

●
●

●

●

●

●
●

Councillor Skoulding commented that he has read the papers several times and from the
information he agreed with Option B that the matter should go forward to a hearing. The
Chairman clarified with Councillor Skoulding that he is asking for a recommendation for the
matter to be determined at a hearing and he confirmed this.
Councillor Mason commented that he agrees with Councillor Skoulding and due to the
complexity of the whole matter, he feels that Councillor King should have the opportunity of
a hearing to explain his actions.
The Chairman asked the Independent Member of the Committee present, Tina Cambell,
whether she had anything she wished to add. Tina Cambell commented that she is in
agreement that an investigation will give Councillor King the opportunity to speak on the
matter.
The Chairman agreed with committee members that if there were to be an investigation,
there would be the opportunity for Councillor King to speak and this would be useful. The
Chairman asked Members whether they wanted any terms to be set for the investigation as
it would not be right for Fenland District Council to investigate it as the Monitoring Officer
was the complainant, and it should be an external body who carries out the investigation.
Councillor Skouklding commented that he would like to see all the correspondence from
Officers which forms part of this case and the Chairman confirmed that she feels it would be
useful, as there are a number of items which are referenced in the Members agenda pack
but Members have not seen sight of them.
The Chairman asked who could carry out the investigation and Fiona McMillan commented
that because the complaint has been made by the Monitoring Officer, it would be
inappropriate for somebody internally to deal with it. Fiona McMillan is aware of a number of
companies that specialise in this particular type of subject and if agreeable to Members, she
will obtain quotations and a timescale in which they could work to. This matter has been
going on for some time and it would be ideal to get it resolved as soon as possible. The
Chairman asked that once this information has been gathered by Fiona, that the information
provided by the external companies was provided to the Committee so members could input
into the final decision on which Company to use and Fiona McMillan agreed this would be
possible.
The Chairman asked Members whether there was anything else to be considered in the
investigation so everything is covered before it comes back to a hearing.
Tina Cambell asked for a further audit of all paperwork which can be confirmed by the
external investigator which can assist them in making a recommendation on whether the
complaint can be upheld or not.
Page 4

It was agreed that an external investigation should now be commissioned by the Deputy
Monitoring Officer and all correspondence between both parties shall be included and reviewed.
The Deputy Monitoring Officer would provide the Committee with the quotes so the Committee can
input into the final decision on who the investigation will be carried out by.
Proposed by Councillor Skoulding and seconded by Councillor Mason that an investigation is
commissioned by the Deputy Monitoring Officer to consider all the issues raised and make a
recommendation as to whether the code of conduct had been breached which would be presented
at a conduct hearing where Councillor King would be given the opportunity to be heard.

15.07pm

Chairman

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Agenda
Item No:

5

Committee:

Conduct Committee

Date:

31 October 2018

Report Title: Conduct Committee Hearing - Councillor Simon King

1. Purpose / Summary
To consider a complaint under the Member Code of Conduct against Councillor Simon
King of Fenland District Council.
2. Key issues
A complaint was raised by the Monitoring Officer about the conduct of Councillor Simon
King in relation to the submission of mileage claims which appeared to have been over
inflated and/or outside the Members' Allowance Scheme.
Following the pre-screening process and an initial consideration of the complaint by
Fenland District Council’s Conduct Committee, it was determined on 4th April 2018 that
an investigation should be commissioned to consider all of the issues raised. The
investigation has now concluded and the Conduct committee is therefore asked to
consider the complaint and determine what next steps should be taken.
The information to be considered at the hearing and attached to this report includes:
Part 1: Hearing Panel Procedure;
Part 2: Investigation Report and Schedule of Unused Material
Part 3: Report to Conduct Committee dated 4th April 2018 together with the information
appended to that report and described in the contents page.
3. Recommendations
For Members to consider whether or not there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct
and, if appropriate, what sanction to be imposed.

Wards Affected

All

Forward Plan Reference

N/A

Portfolio Holder(s)
Report Originator(s)

Fiona McMillan, Deputy Monitoring Officer

Contact Officer(s)

Fiona McMillan, Deputy Monitoring Officer

Background Paper(s)

Member Code of Conduct
Members’ Allowances Scheme

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Contents
Part 1 – Hearing Panel Procedure – Page 11
Part 2 – Investigation Report and Schedule of Unused Material – Page 17
Part 3 – Report to Conduct Committee dated 4th April 2018 (Page 180) together with
the information appended below;
•

Appendix A: Contemporaneous note from pre-screening meeting 08.02.18
– Page 185

•

Appendix B: Complaint against Councillor Simon King
 Section 1 Summary of complaint against Councillor Simon King – Page
189
 Section 2 Summary of mileage claims and financial impact – Page 191
 Section 3 Analysis of mileage claims by month – October 2017 back to
April 2011 – Page 194
 Section 4 Document 1 - Members Allowance Scheme – Page 204
 Section 5 Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct – Page 216
 Section 6 Document 3 – Advice and Guidance provided to Councillor
King in regards the Members’ Allowances scheme – Page 226
 Section 7 Document 4 – Possible routes between Wisbech and
Fenland Hall, March – Page 227
 Section 8 Further Documents- Claims forms from Councillor King: April
2011- October 2017 – Page 228

•

Appendix C: Councillor Simon King’s response – Page 283

•

Appendix D: Letter of Complaint from Councillor King on 19.02.18 – Page
288

•

Appendix E: Independent External Investigators report – Page 290

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Part 1 –
Hearing
Panel
Procdedure

Page 11

COMPLAINTS AGAINST MEMBERS
HEARINGS PROCEDURE
This is a guidance note setting out how the Conduct Committee will hear complaints that
the Code of Conduct has been breached. The purpose of a hearing will be to determine if
the Committee agrees with the findings of the investigation.
1. Following receipt of the investigation report the Monitoring Officer will contact the
member complained of (the “subject member”) and any relevant witnesses to
arrange a date and time for the Conduct Hearing.
2. All paperwork submitted to the Monitoring Officer will be collated into a report for the
Conduct Committee and issued in accordance with the statutory requirements for
access to information.
3. The hearing will take place in public.
4. The hearing will be before 3 members drawn from the Conduct Committee and who
have received hearings training (“the Panel”).
5. The Independent Person [IP] appointed under section 28 of the Localism Act 2011
will also be present to sit alongside the Panel. At the conclusion of each party’s case
the IP will be invited to provide their view of the facts as presented and whether or
not these represent a breach of the Code of Conduct. The IP’s opinion will be taken
into account by the Panel, but by law the Independent Person may not vote.
6. The Monitoring Officer or Deputy Monitoring Officer will be present to advise the
Panel. References to the Monitoring Officer within this document can therefore also
be taken to be references to the Deputy Monitoring Officer as appropriate.
7. The Investigator will attend to present the investigation report and may invite the
complainant to appear as a witness or call other witnesses.
8. The subject member will be invited to attend and may present their own case or they
may be represented. Details of any representative attending should be notified to
the Monitoring Officer within 2 days of the hearing.
9. The subject member may bring witnesses (of a number the Panel considers is
reasonable). “Character witnesses” who cannot provide evidence on the matter
complained about will not be permitted. Details of witnesses should be provided to
the Monitoring Officer within 5 days of the hearing.
10. The cost of any attendance/representation must be borne by the party concerned.
11. The Monitoring Officer can speak at any time to advise the Panel on technical
matters or ask questions of any party.
12. Although no formal time limits will be imposed on the presentations the Chairman will
have the right to curtail excessive presentations.

Page 12

HEARING PROCEDURE
PRELIMINARY MATTERS
1

The Chairman of the Panel will introduce the members of the Panel, the Independent
Person, officers, the subject member, the Investigator and the complainant if present.

2.

The Chairman will explain the reason for the meeting and outline the procedure to be
followed.
The Chairman may choose to vary this procedure if they are of the opinion that such
a variation is necessary in the interests of fairness.

3.

The Chairman will confirm that all those involved understand the procedure to be
followed and ask if there are any preliminary procedural issues which anyone wishes
to raise before the Hearing begins.

4.

If any procedural issues are raised, the Panel will hear representations and
determine them before beginning the hearing.

5.

If the subject member is not present at the start of the hearing, the Panel will
consider any reasons given by them for their non-attendance. If the Panel is
satisfied that there is good reason for their non-attendance, it may adjourn to another
date, or proceed if it has been requested to do so by the subject member.

6.

If the Committee is not satisfied that there is good reason for the subject member’s
non-attendance, or the subject member has indicated that they do not intend to be
present the Conduct Committee shall consider if it is able to continue to hear the
matter in their absence. The committee shall have regard to the following factors:
● Any reasons provided by the subject member;
● Any representative or written representations present from the subject
member;
● The view of the subject member as to whether the hearing should proceed;
● Any comments from the Monitoring Officer.

HEARING
7.

The Investigator will be invited to summarise his/her report and findings. The
Investigator may call any witnesses including the complainant.
The subject member and/or their representative may ask any relevant questions of
the Investigator and their witnesses.

8.

The subject member will then have an opportunity to present their case including
calling any witnesses.
The Investigator may ask relevant questions of the subject member and their
witnesses.

Page 13

9.

The Committee has the discretion to question any of the parties as they see fit and at
the discretion of the Chair the Independent Person may also question any of the
parties.

10.

The Monitoring Officer may ask questions of any party at any time and may speak at
any time to advise the Panel on legal or technical matters.

11.

The subject member and the Investigator will be given the opportunity to present a
summary of their position to the Committee if they wish to do so.

12.

The Independent Person will be invited to provide their view of the facts as presented
and whether or not these represent a breach of the Code of Conduct.

13.

The Panel and the Independent Person will retire with the Monitoring Officer to
consider the matter in private. The Monitoring Officer will not take part in the
decision making but may be called to give legal advice or clarify any of the evidence
as required.

THE DECISION
14.

The Chairman will confirm the Panel’s decision as to whether or not the subject
member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and set out the facts upon
which the conclusions have been reached.

15.

If the Panel decides that the subject member has not failed to follow the Code of
Conduct, the hearing will be concluded.

16.

If the Panel decides that the subject member has failed to comply with the Code of
Conduct, it will consider any verbal representations from the Investigator, the
Monitoring Officer, and the subject member as to:
(a) whether or not the Panel should impose a sanction and/or recommend to Council
that a sanction be imposed; and
(b) what form of sanction(s) is/are appropriate.

17.

The Panel and Independent Person may retire with the Monitoring Officer to consider
these representations in private. The Monitoring Officer will not take part in the
decision making but may be called upon to give legal advice or clarify the options as
required.

18.

The Panel will announce its decision in public at the conclusion of the hearing and
will issue a full written decision including reasons to the subject member and the
complainant within 7 days.

Page 14

SANCTIONS
Under the Protocol for dealing with complaints, the Council has decided that the Conduct
Committee may issue the following sanctions:● Formal letter of reprimand;
● Motion of censure at the Conduct Committee;
● Recommendation to the Full Council (or the Town or Parish Council) for a motion of
Censure;
● Formal request to the Member’s Group Leader for their removal from Committee(s);
● Offer additional training for the Member;
● Withdraw facilities (or recommend to the Town or Parish Council) that facilities are
withdrawn such as computers, email or internet access be suspended for a period of
time;
● Exclude (or recommend to the Town or Parish Council) the Member from the
Council’s offices or other premises or restrict access to certain officers except for
access as necessary for the attendance at meetings of the Council, Committees or
Sub-Committees;
● Publication of a formal notice of breach in a newspaper circulating in the area.
● Publish its findings in respect of the member’s conduct.

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Part 2 –
Investigation
Report and
Schedule of
Unused Evidence

Page 17

Page 18

Page 19

Page 20

Page 21

Page 22

Page 23

Page 24

Page 25

Page 26

Page 27

Page 28

Page 29

Page 30

Page 31

Page 32

Page 33

Page 34

Page 35

Page 36

Page 37

Page 38

Page 39

Page 40

Page 41

Page 42

Page 43

Page 44

Page 45

Page 46

Page 47

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

Page 51

Page 52

CONFIDENTIAL REPORT

Fenland Dislrid Council

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

Case reference: MC/08/1017
Report of an investigation by Wilkin Chapman LLP, appointed by the Monitoring Officer for
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council. into allegations made by Ms Carol Pilson
concerning Councillor Simon King of Fenland District Council.
Dated: 20th September 2018

VOLUME 2
SCHEDULE OF EVIDENCE

w1lk1n chapman llp
solicitors

Cartergate House,
26 Chantry Lane,
Grimsby
DN31 2LJ
a limited liability partnership registered in England number OC343261
authoris ed and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority

Page 53
Page1 of 125

Appendix A
Schedule of evidence taken into account and list of unused material
Page

Number

Description

3

WC1

Code of Conduct

11

WC2

Penn Report

26

WC3

Members Allowance Scheme

38

WC4

Complaint of Carol Pilson

111

WC5

Statement of Carol Pilson

117

WC6

Initial response of Councillor King 30.11.17

119

WC7

Further response of Councillor King 07.02.18

121

WCB

Questions to and responses from Councillor King

Appendix B
List of unused material
I Investigator's notes, file correspondence and drafts.

Page 54
Page 2 of 125

WC1
Section 5 - Document 2 • Member Code of Conduct

CODE 1 CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS1
The Members' Code of Conduct Is Intended 1D promote high standanm of behaviour
amongst the elected and co-opted members of the council.
The Code Is underpinned by the foilowing prfnclples of public life which should borne
in mind when interpreting the meaning of the Code:Selflessneu Holders of public office should act solely In terms of the plJ:>lic
intarest. They should not do so in order to gain financlal or other benefits for
themselws, their family or their friends.
II

Integrity Holders of public office should not place themsetves under any
financJal or other obligation to outside inclvlduals or organiSalions that might
seek to Influence them In the perfonnance of their official duties.

IQ

Ob)actlvlty In carrying out public bualn868, lndudlng making public
appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewa,as
ard benefits, holders of public offlce_should make cholcea on merit.

Iv

Accountability Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions
and actions to the public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is
appropriate to their office.

v

Openneaa Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all
the decisions and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their
decisions and restrict infonnatJon only when the wider publlc Interest clearly
demands.

vi

Honealy Harders· of pl.tllic office have a duty to declare any private interests
relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising
in a way that protects UJe pubic Interest.

YII

Lelderehlp Holders of publlc office should promote and support these
prlnclples by leadership and e>eample.

PART1

GENERAL PROVISIONS
1.

Introduction and Interpretation

1.1.
(Fenland).

This Code applies to you as a member of Fenland District Council

1.2.

The tenn ,he Authority" used In thiS Code refers to Fenland.

"lllember" means any person being an elected or co-opted member
1.3.
of the AuthorJty.
1.4.

It is JOU' responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Coda.

Page 55
Block J Version 1

Page 3 of 125

Page: CP1.1

Section 5 • Document 2 • Member Code of Conduct

In this Code ...

1.5.

"Meeting" means any meeting of:a)

The Authority;

b)

Any meetings with the Council's officers;

c)

Any of the Authority's Committees, sutH:ommittees, joint committees,
joint sutH:ommlttees, or area committees;

d)

Any site visits to do the business of the Authority;

Any of the Authority'a advisory groups and, working parties and
e}
panels.
1,6.

2.

Scope
2.1. You must comply with this Code whenever you act, claim to act or
give the Impression you are acting in your offlcl8' capacity as a
Mermer of the Authority.

2.2.

3.

Where you act as a representatiw of the Authority:(a)

on another relevant authority, you must, when acting tor that other
authority, comply with that other authority's code of conduct; or

(b)

on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply
with your authority"s code of conduct, except and insofar as It conflicts
with any other lawful obllgations to which that other body may be
Sl.i>ject.

General obUaattons

3.1.

3.2.

In this Code "relevant authority" has the meaning given to it by
section 27(6) of the Locallsm kt 2011.

You must treat others with respect.

You must not:-

(a)
do anything, which may cause the Authority to breach UK equalities
legislation.

(b)

buUy any person.

(c)

intimidate or attempt to Intimidate any person who is or Is likely to be:a complainant,
(0
a witness, or
(ii)
involved In the administration of any Investigation or
(ill)
proceedings,
in relation to an allegation that a Member (Including yourself) has
failed to comply with his or her authority's code of conduct

(d)

do anything, which compromises or is likely to compromise the
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Authority.

Page 56
Page: CP1 .2

Bwck J Version 1pa9e 4 or 125

Section 5 • Document 2 • Member Code of Conduct

{e)
4.

conduct yourself In a manner, which could reasonably be regarded as
bringing your office or authority Into disrepute.

You must not:-

disclose lnfonnatlon given to you in confidence by anyone, or

4.1.

Information acquired by you which you befleve, or ought reasonably

to be aware, Is of a confidential nature, except where:-

(a)

you have the consent of a peraon authorised to give it;

(b)

you are required by law to do so:

(c)

the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining
profesUJnal advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose
the Information to any other person; or

(d)

the clsclosure is:(1)

reasonable and in the pubic inter&st; and

�i)

made In good faith and in compliance With the reasonable
requirements of the authority.

4.2.

prevent anotller person from gaining access to lnfonnatlon to which
that person is entitled by law.

5.

You must not:5.1. use or attempt to use your position as a mermer Improperly to confer
on, or secure for yourseH or any other penson, an advantage or
disadvantage.

8.

You must:6.1. when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the
Authority:acl
in accordance with your Authorfty's reasonable requirements;
(&)
ensure
that such resources are not used Improperly for political
(b)
purposes (including party polltfcaJ purposes); and
6.2.

have n,gard to any Local Authority Code of Publiclty made under the
Local Government /id 1986.

PART2
INTERESTS

Page 57
Block J Version 1

Page 5 of 125

Page: CP1 .S

Section 5 • Document 2 • Member Code of Conduct

7.

D1sc·1osabla Pecuniary Interests
7.1. Breaches of the rules relating 10 Disclasable Pecuniary Interests may
lead to criminal sanctions.
7.2.
(a)

(b)

You have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest if It is of a description
specified in Regulations made by the Secretary of State (Appendix
A) and either:
it is an interest of yours, or
it is an Interest of:
(i)
your spouse or civil partner,
a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or
(h1
a person with whom you are llvlng as if you were civil partners,
(ili)
and you are aware that that other person has the Interest.

8.

Registration of Dlsclosable Pecuniary Interests
8.1.
Subject to paragraph 12 (sensitive Interests), you must, within 28
daysot.
this Code being adopted or applied by the Authority; or
(a)
your election or appointment (where that is later),
(b)
notify the Authority's Monitoring Officer In writing of any Disclosable

Pecuniary Interests you have at that time.

8.2.

9.

Subject to paragraph 12 {sensitive interests), you muat, within 28
days of becoming aware of any new Diselosable Pecuniary Interest
or any change to any such interest, notify the Authority's Monitoring
Officer in writing of that new Disdosable Pecuniary Interest or
change.

Dlscloaable Pecuniary Interests In matters considered at meetings
9.1.
If you attend a meeting and have and are aware that you have a
(a)

(b}

Oisctosab1e Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered, or
being considered, a1 that meeting, you must dlscloaa to the meeting the fact that you have a
Dlsclosable Pecuniary Interest in that matter. If you have not already
done so, you muat notify the Authority's Monitoring Officer of the
interest before the end of 28 days beginning with the date o1 the
disclosure, and

whether the Interest Is registered or not you must not - unless yau
have obtained a dispensation from the Authority's Monitoring Officer participate, or participate further, In any discussion of the
(i)
matter or vote at the meetingi or
(ii)
remain in the meeting room whHst the matter is being debated
or participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting.

Note: Council Procedure Rule 13 requires you to leave the room where the

meeting la held while any discussion or voting takes place.
10.

Other Interests
10.1. In addition to the requirements of Paragraph 3, if you attend a
meeting at which any item of business Is to be considered and
Page 58

Page: CP1.4

Block J Version 1Page 6 of 12s

Section 5 • Document 2 .. Member Coda of Conduct

you are aware that you have a •non-disclosable pecuniary
interest or non-pecuniary Interest• in that Item, yau must make
verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that Interest at
or before the consideration of the Item of business or as soon
as the interest becomes apparent
10.2. You have a •non-dsclosable
pecuniary interest or non
pecuniary lnteresr in an item of business of your authority
where
(a)

a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be
regarded as affecting the well-being or financial standing of you
or a member of your family or a person with whom you have a
close association to a greater extant than it would affect the
majority of the Council Tax payers. ratepayers or inhabitants of
the ward or electoral area for which you have been elected or
otherwise of the authority's administrative area, or

( b)

it relates to or Is likely to affect any of the Interests listed In the
Table in the Appendix.to this Code, but tn respect of a member
of your famUy (other than a •relevant person•) or a person with
whom
you
have
a
close
association
and that interest is not a disclosable pecuniary interest.

12.

Sensltlva lntar'NII

12.1

Where you consider (and the Authority's Monitoring Offtcer agrees) that the
nature of a Discloaable Pecuniary or Petsonal Interest Is such that dlsclosure
of the details of the Interest could lead to you or a P81'8011 connectacl with you
being subject to intimidation or violence, It is a •sensitive lnteresr for the
purposes of the Code, and 1he detals of the sensitive Interest do not need to
be disclosed to a meeting, although the fact that you hava a sensitive interest
nut be disclosed, In accordance wllh paragraphs 8 9 and 1 o.

Nola: Reglater of lntel'NIS
lnteresls under paragraph 8 will be notified to the Monitoring Offlcer on a form
approved for the purpose by the Monitoring Officer and for this PUIJ>088 wil be
deemed the -register of Interests". A_ copy of the register will be available for public
inspectfon and wll be published on the authority's website.
13

Gffil •Qd Hoapnallty

1s,1 you must, within .28daysotngJpt noury1ht Moohoring Offlcar in writing Qfany am.
benefitorhoapllajttywith• value;n oxceas Qf £100 which ypu but accapteduamambar
from anv paflOI! orbodyother than tha al.l1hortty,

Page 59
Block J Version 1

Page 7 of 125

Page: CP1.5

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Appendix A
Dlscloseble Pecuniary lntareats
This note explains the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 (Ss 29-34) In relation to
Disclasable Pecuniary Interests. These provisions are enforced by criminal sanction.
They come into force on 1 July 2012.
1 Notification of Dlsctosable Pecuniary Interests

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

Employment, office, trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any 01her financial benefit
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided
within the relevant period In respect of any expenses
incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or
towards the election expenses of M.
This Includes any payment or financial benefit from a
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and
Labour Relations (Con&Oldation) Act. 1992.

Contracts

Any contract which is made between the relevant person
(or a body In which the relevant person has a beneficial
interest) and the relevant authorlty(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or
works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land

Any beneficial interest in land, which is within the area of
the relevant authority.

Licences

Any licence (alone or joiltly with others) to occupy land
in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to M's knowledge)(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the 1enant is a body in which the relevant person has
a benaflcial Interest.

Securities

Any beneficial Interest in securities of a body where(a) that body (to M's knowledge) has a place of business
or land in the area of 1he relevant authority; and
(b) either(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or

carried on for profit or gain.

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one
class in which the relevant person has a beneficial

Page 60
Page: CP1,6

Block J Version 1Page a of 125

Section 5 • Document 2 .. Member Code of Conduct

interest axceeda one hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that class.
These descriptions on interests are subject to the followlng definitions:
"the Ad' means the Locallsm Act 2011;
"body in which the relevant person has a beneficial Interest" means a flnn in which
the relevant person Is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person
is a director, or In the securities of whlch the relevant person has a beneficial
interest;
"director" includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society;
"lanc:r excludes an easement, servilude, interest or r�ht in or over land, which
does not carry wllh it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another}
to occupy the land or to receive income;
•M" means a member of a relevant authority;
"Member" Includes a co-opted member;
•relevant authority" means the authority of which M Is a member;
"relevant period" means the period of 12 months ending wl1h the day on which M
gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31 (?), as the case
may be, o11ha Act;
"relevant person• means Mor any other person referred to In section 30(3)(b) of
the Act;
"Seeurities" means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units
of a coUeclive lnvesbnent scheme within the meaning of the Flnanclal Services
and Markets ArJ. 2000 and other aecurftles of any description, other than money
deposited with a bulldlng society.

Offences

It 18 a criminal offence to
Fail 1D notly the Monitoring Officer of any Discloaable Pecuniary Interest
'.•,
within 28 days of elactlon
•
FaH to disclose a Dlsclosable Pecuniary Interest at a � If It ls not on the
register
;•
Fall to notify the Monhoring Officer within 28 days of a Dlsclosable Pecuniary
Interest that Is not on the register that you have disclosed to e meeting
•
Participate In any discussion or vote on a matter in which ycu have a
Oisclosable Pecuniary Interest (without a dlspensa110n)
•
Knowingly or racklessly providing lnfonnatlon that ii false or misleading In
notfying the Monitoring Officer of a Oisclosable Pecuniary Interest or In
disclosing such lnterast to a meeting

De crtmlnal penalttef ayalllble to • caun •rt to Impose • fine om 11ttt1•,a
1u,1 s on the standard gta and d1saua1111ca11on mm balna • cpuncmor tpr

up ta a Yll'I·

Page 61

Block J Verelon :,

Page9 of125

Page: CP1.7

Section 5 - Document 2 • Member Code of Conduct

Page 62
P09e10of 125

WC2

APPENDIXE

Fenland District Council

Review of the circumstances leading to a complaint by
Councillor Simon King against Fenland District Council

Report for the Chief Executive

Richard Penn
Independent External Investigator
March 2018

Page 63
Page 11 of 125

APPENDIXE

Contents

Page

1

Introduction and methodology

3

2

The background to Councillor King's complaint

4

3

Councillor King's complaint

6

4

My findings in respect of the allegations by Cowicillor
King about the actions of the Monitoring Officer

12

Appendix
Letter of complaint by Councillor King

15

2

Page 64
Page 12 of 125

APPENDIXE

1

Introduction and methodology

1.1

I was commissioned though the Local Government Association (of which 1 am a Senior
Associate) by the Chief Executive of Fenland District Council in March 2018 to undertake an
independent review of the circumstances that had led to a formal complaint against the
Council generally and the actions of a Corporate Director and the Council's statutory
Monitoring Officer from Councillor Simon King, a long-serving member of the Council.

1.2

The complaint was set out in a letter (Appendix 1) from Councillor King to the Chief
Executive dated 19 February 2018.

1.3

The complaint was a complaint against the District Council but made a number of allegations
about the actions of the Monitoring Officer and I was required to review the circumstances
that led to the complaint and to interview relevant witnesses to establish the truth or
otherwise of the allegations on the balance of probability.

1.4

Following the completion of my review I was required to produce a report setting out:
• my :findings about the allegations in the complaint
• my advice as to whether there was a potential case to answer which would then need
to be formally investigated in line with the Model Disciplinary Procedure for local
authority statutory officers.

1.5

I met with Councillor King on March 2018 to hear further details of his concerns, and I met
with the Monitoring Officer the same day to obtain her response to the allegations set out in
Councillor King's letter to the Chief Executive of February 2018. I also interviewed the
Monitoring Officer at Peterborough Council who has been appointed as the Deputy
Monitoring Officer at Fenland District Council and who is now managing the complaints
procedure in this case as the complainant is the Monitoring Officer. The purpose of these
interviews was to establish the facts as far as possible, and to provide the interviewees with
the opportunity to comment on and provide any relevant evidence in respect of the specific
allegations.

1.6

I was provided with a copy of Councillor King's letter of 8 February 2108, the agenda pack
for the Conduct Committee on 27 February 2018 (that included copies of his letters of 17
November 2017 to the Monitoring Officer and 7 February 2018 to the Deputy Monitoring
Officer and copies of the Members Allowance Scheme and the Code of Conduct for
members. I was also provided at a later stage with a copy of the Conduct Committee
Procedure.

3

Page 65
Page 13 of 125

APPENDIX E

2

The background to Councillor King's complaint

2.1

& part of her role as Corporate Director the Monitoring Officer line manages the Members
Services team at Fenland District Council, and she became aware of concerns by her team
about Councillor King's mileage claims. It appeared that Councillor King may have
submitted overinflated mileage claims and attempted to claim for journeys outside the
Council's approved Members' Allowance Scheme between April 2011 and October 2017
equating to £1,511.10 (3358 miles) paid to Councillor King and £7:36.65 (1637 miles)
claimed but not paid. Journeys were claimed for that period appeared inflated over and above
what would be expected by comparison with Google Maps and journeys were claimed for
that were outside the Allowance Scheme; mainly not travelling from home but from another
start point or travelling to another place which is not claimable on the way to Council
business. There were consistent claims for differing amowits of mileage from home in
Wisbech to the Council offices at Fenland Hall, March. The claims are generally for 26 miles
return journey or more, whereas Google Maps indicates that this return journey would be 22
miles.

2.2

It is the responsibility of the individual Councillor to submit Members' Allowances
claims. The Member Services team processes claims and consults with the individual
member if there are any obvious errors. Mileage claims are checked for attendance at FDC
meetings but otherwise are accepted on face value as Members sign a declaration that
they are correct.

2.3

Councillor King had been advised by Members Services staff on a number of occasions
over the last six years about issues with his mileage claims and be met with the Acting
Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer in May 2016 regarding the accuracy of his
mileage claims. 1-iMe.a;hsubmission ofinappropriate claims has continued.

2.4

The Monitoring Officer told me that it had become clear to her that the scale of Councillor
K.ing,s over-claiming required action and that she had taken legal advice both from
Peterborough Council and from external solicitors to ensure that her actions were fair and
proportionate. She had made the complaint against Councillor King with a heavy heart but
had concluded that it was the right thing to do in the circumstances.

2.5

The Monitoring Officer submitted a complaint about the conduct of Councillor King on the
24 November 2017. Councillor King was offered the opportunity to respond to this complaint
and responded by letter to the Monitoring Officer on 30 November 2017. Due to the potential
seriousness of this complaint it was not possible to resolve it informally and therefore the
complaint progressed to the next stage of the process.

2.6

In line with 'Rule 9 Conduct Committee Procedmes' in the Constitution of Fenland District
Council and under Paragraph 5.3.2 'Initial Consideration of Complaints' a pre-screening
meeting was held on 8th February 2018 to consider the complaint made by the Council's
Monitoring Officer against Council King about the allegedly inaccurate mileage claims. The
Conduct Committee Procedures rules (5.3.4) state that:

'Any complaint where it is considered that a breach of the Code of Conduct may
have occun-ed, unless it is deemed vexatious, trivial or tit-for-tat will be referred on
to the Committeeforfarther consideration·.

4

Page 66
Page 14 of 125

APPENDIX E

2.7

The complaint was considered through the pre-screening process involving the Chair of the
Conduct Committee, the Independent Person and the Deputy Independent Person on 8
February 2018. Councillor King had written a further letter to the Deputy Monitoring Officer
on 7 February 2018 which was read out at the pre-screening meeting. In his conclusion to
that letter Councillor King said:
'A serious complaint has been made against me by the Monitoring Officer ofFenland
District Council. That complaint is based on a flawed Interpretation of the Cotmcil's
policy, and the application ofpolicies which are not the approved policy ofFDC. The
Monitoring Officer has.furthermore confirmed by email that thesepolicies have not been
applied to the travel expense claims ofany otherMembers.
The Monitoring Officer, acting outside her remit under s5 Local Government end
Housing Act 1989 (and if within her remit - which I dispute- then not acting in
accordance with the provisions ofs5 (2) and (3), and acting in breach ofs28(4) of the
Localism Ac, 2011) has reported this complaint to the police.
Since I have not breached any Council policy in relation to my travel expanse claim.,
I have not breached the Member's Code of Conduct, and the complaint against me Is
whol{vwithoutfoundation, and indeed Is ve."tatious and should not go anyfurther.'

2.8

Following an extensive discussion about the issues raised in the complaint it was agreed that
the complaint could not be described as 'vexatious, trivial or tit-for-tat'. It was unanimously
agreed that the following sections of the Code of Conduct might have been breached:
• The first Nolan Principle - "Selflessness - Holders of public office should act solely
in terms of the public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or
other benefits for themselves, their family or their friends."
• 3.2. You must not:(e) conduct yourself in a manner, which could reasonably be regarded as
bringing your office or authority into disrepute
• 6. You must:- 6.1. when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of

2.9

The Panel noted the submissions made by Councillor King in his response to the complaint
but considered that the issues raised needed to be properly investigated by an external
investigator independent of the Council due to the serious nature of the allegations and as the
complaint had been made by the Council's Monitoring Officer.

2.10

Councillor King told me that he had sent his letter of complaint dated 19 February 2018 to
the Council's Chief Executive with a heavy heart following the extensive media coverage of
the complaint against him and its reference to the police. He had tried to resolve the matter in
November 2017 by making a payment to the Council equivalent to the amount alleged to
have been overpaid but the complaint continued to be progressed.

2.11

In view of the allegations in Councillor King's letter of 19 February 2018 it was decided to
commission this review and to suspend the complaints process in respect of the complaint
against Councillor King pending the receipt of the report on my review. Following the
decision to progress the complaint against him Councillor King took extensive legal advice
from a local solicitor and his letter of complaint reflects that advice in respect of a number of
5

Page 67
Page 15 of 125

APPENDIX E

the allegations. I have been provided with an email setting out in more detail the advice he
has given Councillor King in respect of points 5, 6 7, 8 and 9 in the letter of 90mplaint.

3

Councillor King's complaint

3.1

When I interviewed Councillor King he confirmed that his complaint was against Fenland
District Council for what he described as its failure to act in a proper and lawful maMer in
the fonnulation, investigation and pursuance of a complaint made against him in relation to
his mileage claims.

3.2

However, in his letter of complaint Councillor King sets out a number of specific allegations
(allegations 3, 4, 6, 7, 8 and 9) about the actions of the Monitoring Officer. AB a result ofmy
review and the interviews I held with Councillor King; the Monitoring Officer and the
Deputy Monitoring Officer I have been able gather the following information about
Councillor King's complaint and the allegations he has made:

Allegation 1

• the Members' Mileage policy was notfollowed by disallowing claims I madefor travelling
to andfrom council meetingsfrom elsewhere than my home'
This issue is being addressed as part of the Code of Conduct complaint and it would not be
appropriate to prejudge the outcome. However, Councillor King clearly considers that the
policy is unclear. He pointed in his letter of7 February 2018 out that Clause 6.2 of the policy
states that:
'All claims for travel expenses and subsistence should be made on the appropriate
claimform and backed by receipts as applicable. Mileage can be claimedfrom
Councillors normal place and reaulence orfrom a subsequent appointment on
Council business. Mileage can only be claime.dfor journeys taken wholly and
exclusively in pursuance of Council duties as set out in 6.1 '.

and that the Monitoring Officer in her complaint has interpreted the second sentence of this
Clause to mean that a Councillor is only entitled to claim i:mvel expenses for journeys
starting either at home or at meeting on Council business to which the Councillor travelled
:from home. His contention is that Clause 6.2 should make it clear that mileage can only be
claimed from the Councillor's normal place of residence. In that letter Councillor King also
claims that the Chair of the IRP told bis solicitor that the reason for the inclusion of the
second sentence was to clarify that, in contrast to employees, Councillors are entitled to claim
travel expenses from their home to tbe Council offices, and that her interpretation of the
policy is that Councillors should be able to claim travel expenses to meetings o Council
business ftom. any starting point, whether that be their home, their place of work or
elsewhere.
The Monitoring Office disagrees with Councillor King's contention, and considers 1hat
Clause 6.2 is clear. The issue has never been raised with the IRP and it has not proved to be
an issue for other members.

Allegation 2
'the Members' Mileage policy wqs not followed by disallowing claims for more than the
shortest google maps distance'

6

Page 68
Page 16 of 125

APPENDIXE

This issue is also being addressed as part of the Code of Conduct complaint and it would not
be appropriate to prejudge the outcome. Councillor King contends that the policy should
include a provision that mileage distances should be based on Google Maps or Routeplanner.
As it is currently written it simply states that the mileage rate is 45p per mile for the first
10,000 miles of travel and thereafter in accordance with HMRC rates.
The Monitoring Officer clarified that the claims had not been disallowed and that Councillor
King had voluntarily repaid over £1,500 of previous claims. The analysis of Councillor
King's mileage claims had been based on Google Maps mileages to provide objectivity. The
Monitoring Officer said that she does not consider that the policy should be amended to
specify the basis on which distances should be recorded as members should honestly claim
the actual mileage involved, and if this is not the shortest distance should be prepared to
explain the reason for this if required. Councillor King had not provided reasonable
explanation for those occasions when he had claimed more than the shortest distance
according to Google Maps.
Allegation 3

'the Code of Conduct policy and the legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Office,
in referring th-is to the police as this was not a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest'

Councillor King claims that the reference to the police by the Monitoring Officer was not in
line with the Code of Conduct policy as the complaint was not in respect of a non disclosure
of a pecuniary interest. He is also concerned that the matter was leaked to the press sometime
after 5 December 2017 and he denied that he had been the source of the leak.
The Monitoring Officer was very clear that if any Council officer considers that something
potentially of a criminal nature had taken place it has to be referred to the police - and not
only if it concerns a non disclosure of a pecuniary interest. The reference to DPI in the policy
is there because of the change in legislation as a result of the Localism Act. The Monitoring
Officer told me that she had been concerned that there had been fraud, she had taken legal
advice from Peterborough Council and externally, and the consensus was that the matter had
to be referred to the police. She had not wanted to prejudice potential police action by
progressing the complaint through the Conduct Committee so the police were consulted hut
the matter had not reached the appropriate threshold. For the police to take action The matter
had been leaked to the media but there was no evidence about the source of the leak.
The Deputy Monitoring Officer confirmed that any Council officer can refer possible
illegality to the police at any time, and this does not have to be with reference to a potential
breach of the Localism Act provisions on non disclosure of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.
In this case the matter had the potential to be fraudulent action which is a criminal offence.
The recent case of Hussain v Sandwell MBC confumed the scope of the powers of local
authorities generally to investigate alleged member impropriety in a 'pre-formal
investigation' before moving on to deal with it in accordance with the formal arrangements
under the Localism Act. The High Court held that:
'Such pre-formal enquiries may be necessary to see whether a complaint brought to
its attention is frivolous or vexatious or whether it even has substance it should be
dealt with by some other procedure or avenue such as civil proceedings in a Court or
a complaint to the police'
Allegation 4

7

Page 69
Page 17 of 125

APPENDIX£
e
'the Code of Conduct policy was not followed by th Monitoring Officer by involving the
Independent Person before the pre-sift stage'

Councillor King pointed out that the Conduct Committee Procedure makes no provision for
the Independent Person to be involved before the •pre-sift, stage. Paragraph 5 .3 .3 of the
Procedure provides for all written complaints to be the subject of a pre-screening process by
the Independent Person, the Deputy Independent person. and the Chair of the Committee with
advice from the Monitoring Officer, but Councillor King claims that the Monitoring Officer
inappropriately consulted with the Independent Person in November prior to the pre
screening meeting on 8 February 2018.
The Monitoring Officer confirmed that she did consult with the Independent Person earlier
than
pre-screening meeting having taken advice about whether this would be appropriate
given the nature and scale of the complaint. She told me that she had spoken to the
Independent Person on three occasions - firstly to provide the Independent Person with an
overview of the situation, second when it was proposed to consult with the police and third to
advise her that the police would not be involved. The Monitoring Officer confirmed that at no
point had any details of the complaint been provided to the Independent Person. She
conceded that the Procedure did not provide specifically for this kind of informal contact
about potential claims but pointed out that all members of the Council had been informed of
the appointment of the Independent Person through an agenda item at the Council meeting on
23 July 2015, and� the advice note that had been circulated for that meeting included a
statement that the Independent Person would be available to be consulted before the Conduct
Committee makes a decision and that the Independent Person may also be consulted on other
matters.

the

The Deputy Monitoring Officer confirmed that it is up to each Council to decide what role it
aske that Independent Person to perform in any given complaint and that many councils
involve them from the outset of the process. The Monitoring Officer was the complainant in
this case and was therefore entitled to consult the Independent Person if she saw that as
appropriate.

Allegation S
'Fe.nland District Council failed to comply with Section 28 (4) of the Localism Act 2011, in
that a complaint of a breach of the code of conduct should be dealt with under the conduct
procedure and not otherwise'

This is essentially a repetition of allegation 3 - that the Code of Conduct policy and the
legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer in referring this to the police as this
was not a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest. Councillor King conteruhi that the complaint
against him clearly states that he may have breached the Code of Conduct, and that by
reporting the matter to the police before dealing with the matter under the Conduct
Committee procedure, Fenland District Council has acted in a manner which is contrary to
the explicit requirement of the legislation.
The Monitoring Officer was very clear in her view, endorsed by the Deputy Monitoring
Officer, that if any Council officer considers that something potentially of a criminal nature
bad taken place it has to be referred to the police - and not only if it concerns a non
disclosure of a pecuniary interest. In this case the matter had the potential to be fraudulent
action which is a crim.ina1 offence and it was entirely appropriate for the matter to be referred
8

Page 70
Page 18 of 125

APPENDIX E

to the police for consideration prior to progressing it as a potential breach of the Code of
Conduct.

Allegation 6
'The Monitoring Officer failed to differentiate her roles as Head ofMember Services and the
Monitoring Officer'
The Monitoring Officer stated in an email of 22 January 2018 addressed to the Deputy
Monitoring Officer that she was acting as the Monitoring Officer of Fenland District Council
in raising the complaint. Councillor King contends that the complainant would be able to
raise a complaint about any member's expenses at any time in her capacity as the Head of
Member Services and that complaint should have been made in her capacity as Head of
Member Services and not as Monitoring Officer.
The Monitoring Officer told me that Councillor King is mistaken in his contention that she is
Head of Members Services. She does line-manage the Members Services team and becamr
aware of concerns about Councillor Km.g's mileage claims as a result of this, but this was not
the reason why she raised the complaint. As Monitoring Officer she is obliged to deal with
about any potential breach of the Code of Conduct or potential illegality wherever it occurred
in the organisation if she was made aware of it. She denied that there had been any failure on
her part to differentiate her roles, and that she had stood aside from the process at the
appropriate time as she was the complainant. Her view is that as Monitoring Officer if she
becomes aware from any source that a potential conduct issue or illegality has occurred she is
obliged to deal with it - a view endorsed by the Deputy Monitoring Officer.

Allegation 7
'The Monitoring Officer misunderstood the application of Section 5 (2) of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989, and she purported to deal with a complaint arising
under the Code of Conduct in her capacity as Monitoring Officer'
Advised by his solicitor, Councillor King contends that the Monitoring Officer has failed to
understand the extent and limits of her role as Monitoring Officer under Section 5(2) of thf
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, where there is or may be 'a contravention........ OJ
any enactment or rule of/aw'. He contends that Fenland District Council's Code of Conduct
cannot be considered to be 'an enactment or rule of law' and accordingly the duties of the
Monitoring Officer do not arise under that Section. This is entirely consistent with the
provisions of the Localism Act 2011 Section 28(4).
The Monitoring Officer considers that the reference by Councillor King and his advisor to the
provisions of the 1989 Act and the use of a Section 5 report is misguided. The Deputy
Monitoring Officer confirmed that the core legal propriety of monitoring officers as set out in
the 1989 Act is to issue a report (known as a S5 report) in the event of any breach of law, a
statutory code of practice or ascertained maladministration. This is a 'nuclear option' and
happens very rarely. The 1989 Act which introduced the role of Monitoring Officers
preceded the Local Government Act 2000 which introduced a Code of Conduct for members
and an enhanced role for Monitoring Officers in overseeing this. This was subsequently
amended by the Localism Act where the role of monitoring officer was further enhanced s
9

Page 71
Page 19 of 125

APPENDIXE

the complaints system moved from a national Standards Board for England to a locally based
system for de.aJing with complaints and upholding high standards of conduct across the
authority. In summary, the Monitoring Officer was correct in her actions by progressing the
matter as a Code of Conduct issue having first clarified the potential for police action.

Alle1ation 8
'The Monitoring Officer in (l(:ting (albeit improperly) under Section 5 Local Government a,uJ
Housing Act 1989, oompounded her error by failing to act in accordance with the
requirements ofthat Section•.

This allegation is essentially a mixture of allegations 3, 5 and 8 above which have been dealt
with separately.

Allegadon 9
'The Monitoring Officer has nominated a person who is not employed by Fenland District
Council to act as Deputy Monitoring Officer contrary to Sub-section (7) of Section 5 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

Based on advice to him from his legal advisor it is the contention of Councillor King that in
line with Section 5(7) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Monitoring
Officer may only nominate a member of her staff to act as her deputy, and furthermore that
deputy may only act in her absence or illness (neither of which is the case here). This section
of the Act was revised to include a new sub-section 7A, which referred to Section 82A of the
Local Government Act 2000. This latter section explicitly allowed· the delegation by the
Monitoring Officer of her functions:
a) in any circumstances where the Monitoring Officer considered that she
should not act; and
b) to any person nominated by the Monitoring Officer (whether an officer of
the same Authority or not).
However, as a result of various repeals, the powers under that Section 82A now only apply to
Wales and have no application in England. The original insertion of sub-section 7A gives
rise to some interesting conclusions as follows:
a)

If Section 5(7) were sufficient to permit the Monitoring Officer to
appoint a person who is not an officer of the relevant authority; and

b)

if the Monitoring Officer could appoint a deputy to act under Section
5(7) otherwise than in the Monitoring Officer's absence or illness

From this Councillor King contends that the powers of the Monitoring Officer are once again
limited to the appointment of a deputy only when the Monitoring Officer is absent or ill, and
that the deputy must be an officer of the relevant Authority. This latter conclusion is
supported by the language used in Section 82A which is different to the language used in s5,
in relation to the appointee as Deputy Monitoring Officer. Section 82A refers to 'a person
10

Page 72
Page 20 of 125

APPENDIXE

nominated for the purpose by the Monitoring Office"' whereas Section 5(7) refers to "such

member of his staff as he has for the time being nominated as his deputy".
Councillor King's legal advisor raised this point with the Deputy Monitoring Officer, who
referred him to the case of Pinfold North Limited -v- Humberside Fire Authority, decided by
the High Court in 2010, as support for the argument that an officer of an authority need not
be an employee, and that consequently the Monitoring Officer of FDC may appoint Fiona
McMillan as OMO. That case related to a Chief Finance Officer who was not employed by
the relevant authority. However, in the specific case, the Judge found that because the
individual was an officer of the authority by virtue of being its Treasurer, he was therefore an
officer who could be appointed its Chief Finance Officer. This therefore implies that in order
to be appointed to a statutory function the individual must be, independently of that statutory
function, an officer of the relevant authority. The advice of Councillor King's legal advisor to
Councillor King was that unless the Deputy Monitoring Officer is an officer of Fenland
District Council her appointment was ultra vires.
Fenland District Council has a shared legal service arrangement with Peterborough Council
and Fiona McMillan (an employee of Peterborough Council) is very involved in providing
legal advice to the Council as part of that shared service arrangement so the Monitoring
Officer told me that it was entirely appropriate for her to be appointed as Deputy
Monitoring Officer, an appointment confirmed by the Council. The Deputy Monitoring
Officer confirmed that her appointment was not contrary to S5 of the Local Government
and Housing Act 1989 as confirmed by the High Court decision in 2010 which held that a
local authority 'officer' does not have to be an employee. The Judge had confirmed that the
term • officer' was not defined in the relevant legislation and that although a council's
employe es are necessarily officers, he found that its officers are not necessarily employees
and there was no statutory requirement that that should be so. The Judge held that:
'the 1972 Act refers to the duties and obligations of officers who are employees,
there is nothing in the Act which excludes the appointment of an officer who is not
an employee'.

The Deputy Monitoring Officer contends that this case has the same application to
monitoring officers and their deputies as the LGHA 1989 monitoring officer provisions are
also analogous to those concerning chief finance officers in ss. 114 to I I 6 of the LGFA
1988.

II

Page 73
Page 21 of 125

APPENDIXE

4

My rmdings in respect of the alle1ations by Councillor King about the
actions of the Monitoring Officer

4.1

I have carried out an independent review of the circumstances that have led to a formal
complaint against Fenland District Council by Councillor Simon King.

4.2

The complaint concerned a number of actions taken by the Monitoring Officer which
Councillor King claimed to be inappropriate, outside the Council's policies or ultra vires.
Councillor King has taken extensive legal advice about these actions and his legal advisor has
made a number of contentions on his behalf.

4.3

As a result of my review I have reached the following conclusions in respect of each of the
nine allegations made by Councillor King:
Allegation 1
'the Members• Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims I made for travelling
to andfrom council meetingsfrom elsewhere than my home'

No mileage claims have been disallowed without first consulting Councillor King so there is
no evidence to suggest the cmrent policy has not been followed. The Council's Members
Allowances Scheme could be further improved by stating that mileage can only be claimed
from the councillor's normal place of residence or at a meeting on Council business to which
the Councillor travelled from home. I understand that this matter will be addressed by the
Council with the objective of providing clarity to councillors when making·mileage claims.

Allegation 2
'the

Members ' Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims for more than the
shortest google maps distance•

No mileage claims have been disallowed without first consulting Councillor King so there is
no evidence to suggest the current policy has not been followed. Again, this is not an
allegation about the actions of the Monitoring Officer specifically as it is a complaint about
the absence of clear guidance in the Members Allowance Scheme. My conclusion is that
specifying in the Scheme that mileage claims should be based on distances calculated
through Google Maps or Routeplanner would further improve the guidance given to
councillors when they make mileage claims. There should still be an acceptance that on some
occasions councillors have to take a different and potentially longer route but councillors
should explain the reason for this if requested. I recommend that this matter should be
addressed by the Council in order to provide further clarity to councillors when they make
mileage claims.
Allegation 3

12

Page 74
Page 22 of 125

APPENDIXE

'the Code of Conduct policy and the legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer
in refe"ing this to the police as this was not a non-disclosure ofa pecuniary interest'

Council officers must refer potential illegality on the part of elected members to the police at
any time they become aware of it, and this is not restricted to a potential breach of the
Localism Act provisions on non--disclosure of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. In this case
the matter had the potential to be :fraudulent action which is a criminal offence, and my
conclusion is that the Monitoring Officer acted entirely correctly in referring the matter to the
police for consideration prior to progressing the matter through the Code of Conduct process.
Allegation 4
'the Code of Conduct policy was not followed by the Monitoring Officer by involving the
Independent Person before the pre-sift stage'

The Monitoring Officer did consult with the Independent Person on three occasions before
the pre-screening meeting on 8 February 2018. The Conduct Committee Procedure does not
provide for this kind of informal contact about potential claims but my conclusion is that it
was entirely reasonable that she ensured that the Independent Person was briefed generally
about developments with the complaint. In order to avoid any misunderstanding in the future
paragraph S.3.3 of the Procedure should be suitably amended to provide for such contact in
the management of code of conduct cases.
Allegation 5
'Fenland District Councilfailed to comply with Section 28 (4) ofthe Localism Act 2011, in
that a complaint of a breach ofthe code ofconduct should be dealt with under the conduct
procedure and not otherwise'

This is essentially a repetition of allegation 3 - that the Code of Conduct policy and the
legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer in referring this matter to the police as
it did not concern a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest. However, if any Council officer
considers that something potentially of a criminal nature had taken place it has to be referred
to the police - and not only if it concerns a non disclosure of a pecuniary interest. In this case
the matter had the potential to be fraudulent action which is a criminal offence and it was
entirely appropriate for the matter to be referred to the police for consideration prior to
progressing it as a potential breach of the Code of Conduct.
Allegation 6
'The Monitoring Officer failed to differentiate her roles as Head ofMember Services and the
Monitoring Officer'

The Monitoring Officer acted as the Monitoring Officer of Fenland District Council in
raising the complaint. Councillor King is mistaken that the Monitoring Officer is also Head
of Members Services although she does line-manage the Members Services team and became
aware of concerns about Councillor King's mileage claims as a result of this, but she did not
raise the complaint as a result of her line management responsibilities. As Monitoring Officer
she is obliged to deal with any potential breach of the Code of Conduct or potential illegality
wherever it occurred in the organisation once she was made aware of it. My conclusion is
that there was no failure on the part of Monitoring Officer to differentiate her roles, and that
13

Page 75
Page 23 of 125

APPENDIX E
she quite correctly stood aside from the process at the appropriate time as she was the
complainant.

Allegation 7

'The Monitoring Officer misunderstood the application of Section 5 (2) of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989, and she purported to deal with a complaint arising
under the Code of Conduct in her capacity as Monitoring Officer'
The Monitoring Officer considers that the reference by Councillor King and his advisor to the
provisions of the 1989 Act and the use of a Section 5 report is misguided. The issuing of a
report (known as a SS report) happens very rarely and would have been inappropriate in this
case. My conclusion is that the Monitoring Officer � correct in her action in progressing
the matter as a Code of Conduct issue having first clarified the potential for police action.
Allegation 8

'The Monitoring Officer in acting (albeit improperly) under Section 5 Local Government and
Housing Act 1989, compounded her error by failing to act in accordance with the
requirements ofthat Section'.
This allegation is primarily a mixture of allegations 3, 5 and 8 above which have been dealt
with.
Allegation 9

'The Monitoring Officer has nominated a person who is not employed by Fenland District
Council to act as Deputy Monitoring Officer contrary to Sulr.section (l) of Section 5 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
Even though the Deputy Monitoring Officer is not an employee of Fenland District
Council, there is a shared legal service arrangement with Peterborough Council and Fiona
McMillan (an employee of Peterborough Council) is very involved in providing legal
advice to the Council as part of that shared service arrangement My conclusion is that it
was entirely appropriate and pragmatic for the Monitoring Officer to appoint her a s Deputy
Monitoring Officer, an appointment confirmed by the Council
4.4

I was asked to advise whether my review of the circumstances that led to the complaint
against the Monitoring Officer indicated that there was a potential case to answer that would
then need to be fonnally investigated in line with the Model Disciplinary Procedure for local
authority statutory officers. Given my conclusions that none of the specific allegations
against the Monitoring Officer by Councillor King amount to potential misconduct or poor
performance by her in her role as the Council's Monitoring Officer, my advice is that there is
no potential case to answer which needs to be further investigated.

Richard Penn
Independent Investigator
March2018
14

Page 76
Page 24 of 125

APPENDIXE

Appendix 1
Letter of Complaint by Councillor King on 19 February 2018

'I wish to make a formal complaint against Fenland District Council forfailure to act in a proper
and lawful manner in the formulation. investigation and pursuance of a complaint made against me
in relation to my expense claims. The specific matters giving rise to this complaint are thefollowing:
1. The Members' Mileage policy was notfollowed, by disallowing claims I made for travelling to
andfrom council meetingsfrom elsewhere than my home
2. The Members' Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims for more than the shortest
google maps distance
3. The Code of Conduct policy and the legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer in
refelling this to the police as this was not a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest
4. The Code of Conduct policy was notfollowed by the Monitoring Officer by involving the
/-,,dependent Person before the pre-sift stage
5. Fenland District Councilfailed to comply with Section 28 (4) oftheLocalismAct 2011, in that a
complaint of a breach of the code of co-nduct should be dealt with under the conduct procedure and
not otherwise
6. The Monitoring Officer failed to differentiate her roles as Head of Member Services and the
Monitoring Officer
7. The Monitoring Officer misunderstood the application of Section 5 (2) of the Local Government
and Housing Act 1989, and she purported to deal with a complaint arising under the Code of
Conduct in her capacity as Monitoring Officer
8. The Monitoring Officer in acting (albeit improperly) under Section 5 Local Government and
Housing Act 1989, compounded her error by failing to act in accordance with the requirements of
that Section
9. The Monitoring Oj]icer has nominated a person who is not employed by Fenland District Counc
to act as Deputy Monitoring Officer contrary to Sub-section (1) of Section 5 of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989.
As this flawed process and baseless allegations have seriously damaged my reputation, the redress I
expect from Fenla-nd District Council is to purchase the front page of both local papers to print an
apology and retraction. I also require reimbursement of all the expenses I have necessarily incurred
both now and until this matter is concluded, to be reimbursed. '

15

Page 77
Page 25 of 125

WC3
PART&
MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME 1

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

Introduction
Basic AJlowanoe
Special Responsibility Allowance
(Deleted) 1cl)
Dependents' Carers' Allowance
Travelling and Subsistence Allowances
Co..optees' Allowance
Foregoing Allowances
Withholding Allowances
Part Year Entitlements
Claims and Payments
Equipment and Consumables
Updating
Independent Remuneration Panel
Publicity
Schedule of allowances

1.
2.
3.
4.

Members' Allowances
Subsistence Allowances
Travelling Allowances
Overnight Subsistence

1 Scheme lnltlally approved 8th November 2007 - significant amendments to scheme
approved 3 November2011 and 51t1 November 2015.
1 {i) Deletion approved 5th November 2015

Page 78
Page 26 of 125

MEMBERS'ALLOWANCESSCHEME
1.

INTRODUCTION
1.1

1.2

This Scheme
(a)

will be known as the Fenland District Council Scheme
and shall have effect from 1 st April 2016 2(iJ. At its meeting
on 5 November 2015 2(Q, the Council adopted a scheme
based upon the recommendations of an Independent
Remuneration Panel.

(b)

has been prepared in exercise of the powers conferred by
the Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England)
Regulations 2003.

In this Scheme
(a)

"Councillor'' means an elected member of Fenland District
Council.

(b)

"Leader of the Council" means the councillor appointed
by the Council to fill that office.

(c)

[Deletedf

(d)

"Opposition Group Leader" means the councillor notified
to the Chief Executive as the councillor elected as leader
of the political groups established under the provisions of
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and
subsequent regulations.

(e)

"Main Opposition Group Leader" means the Opposition
Group Leader of the largest opposition group. For the
purposes of this scheme no Main Opposition Group
Leader Allowance will be paid to a group of less than 5
members

(f)

"Cabinet Member'' or 2oi) "Portfolio Holder'' means a
councillor appointed by the Leader as a member of the
Cabinet in accordance with the Council's Constitution 2(ii)

(g)

Deleted 2(1H)

(h)

Deleted 2(iii)

2

Approved 24th July 2014
2(i) Approved 5th November 2015
2(ii) Amendment and subsequent deletion approved 5111 November 2015
2(iii) Deletion approved 5th November 2015

Page: M.2

Block L Version 7
Page 27 of 125

Page 79

(i)
2.

3.

4.

''Year" means the twelve months ending with 31 March.

BASIC ALLOWANCE
2.1

For each year a basic, flat rate allowance shall be paid to each
councillor, the level of the allowance being specified in the
schedule to this scheme.

2.2

The basic allowance is designed to contribute towards expenses
occurred as a result of undertaking Council business - such as
the use of a home telephone and internet access and other
semi-official activities carried out by councillors. This allowance
is not intended to recompense councillors for all the time that
they devote to Council business. It is assumed that some
elements of 0,e work of councillors are undertaken on a
voluntary basis.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE
3.1

For each year a special responsibility allowance shall be paid to
those councillors who hold special �sponsibilities outlined within
the Schedule of Allowances.

3.2

The amount of each such allowance shall be that specified In the
schedule to this scheme. 2ov,

3.3

A councillor may receive no more than two special responsibility
allowances at any one time.

3.4

In considering the Allowances for Opposition Group Leaders, the
Main Opposition Group Leader Allowance will be given to the
Leader of the largest group,. of 5 members or more. Any other
opposition group leaders will receive the Other Opposition
Allowance regardless of the size of the group. In the event there
are two or more equal sized opposition groups each having 5 or
more members then they will all receive 2(111) the Main Opposition
Group Leader Allowance. In the event there are two or more
Other Opposition Group Leaders then they will receive an equal
share of the Other Opposition Group Leader Allowance 2cv).

Deleted 2(v1)

2(iv) Deletion approved 5111 November 2015
2(v) Amendment approved 5t1 November 2015
2(vl) Deletion approved 51t1 November 2015

Block L Version 7

Page 2B of 125

Page: M.3

Page 80

5.

DEPENDENTS' CARERS' ALLOWANCE
5.1

Child Care
The scheme provides for reimbursement of expenditure incurred
by councillors in providing child care arrangements to facilitate
their attendance at approved duties of the Council in accordance
with the requirements that

5.2

•

payment is made to someone other than a close relation
(eg parent, guardian, brother, sister)

•

payments for the care of under B's are restricted to
payments to registered child-minders and other statutory
approved child care providers

•

payments be restricted to the care of children up to their
14th birthday who normally reside with the member

•

no payments be made in respect of the care of children of
compulsory school age during school hours.

Care of Dependants
The reimbursement of expenditure on professional care for an
elderly, sick or disabled dependent relative normally residing
with the councillor and requiring constant care, subject to
payments being restricted to agencies or persons qualified to
provide the care other than close relations.

5.3

General Conditions
The following conditions will apply to both types of allowance:

•

•
•
•

payments are made on the basis of reimbursement of
actual hourly rate expenditure incurred for each hour of a
councillor's absence from home and are subject to the
production by the councilor of satisfactory receipts
councillors to self-certify claims confirming that they have
incurred expenditure in accordance with the scheme
that qualifying meetings be restricted to those regarded
as approved duties in the Council's scheme (see 6
below).
Individual arrangements can be made with the Council via
the Leader of the Council and Monitoring Officer for
flexible financial arrangements for Dependents' Carers'
Allowance which would not exceed the payments made
Page: M.4

Block L Version 7
Page 29 of 125

Page 81

under the current criteria, reflecting the individualizing of
social care packages nationally.3
6.

TRAYELLING AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES
6.1

6.2

7.

Subject to the provisions set out in the attached schedule,
travelling and subsistence allowances shall be paid to those
councillors attending meetings In respect of the following duties:
•
A meeting of the Cabinet or any committee of the
Cabinet
•

A meeting of the Council or a committee, sub-committee
or other body of the Council (for which proper notice is
given)

•

A meeting held under joint arrangements with another
authority (for which proper notice is given)

•

Training and Induction courses, seminars and
conferences

•

Site inspection meetings (for which proper notice is
given)

•

Formal meetings of outside bodies as a representative
of the Council

•

Undertaking civic duties as Chainnan or Vice-Chairman
of the Council

•

Any other duty which has been approved by the Chief
Executive.

All claims for travel expenses and subsistence should be made
on the appropriate claim form and backed by receipts as
applicable. Mileage can be claimed from Councillors normal
place of residence or from a subsequent appointment on
Council business. Mileage can only be claimed for journeys
undertaken wholly and exclusively in pursuance of Council
duties as set out in 6.1.

CO-OPTEES' ALLOWANCE
7.1

The Town and Parish Council representatives 4 of the Council's
Conduct s Committee shall each be paid an annual co-optees'
allowance, at the rate specified In the schedule to this scheme.

7.2

Those persons in receipt of a co-optees' allowance from this
Council shall be ·entitled to claim travelling and subsistence
allowances where appropriate.

3 Amendment appro� s"' November 2015
4 Amendment approlllld � November 2015
5 Amendment approved 5., November 2015

Block L Version 7

Page: M.5
Page 30 of 125

Page 82

8.

FOREGOING ALLOWANCES
8.1

9.

WITHHOLDING ALLOWANCES
9.1

10.

Where a councillor is suspended or partially suspended from
his/her duties and responsibilities as a member of the Council,
the relevant allowances (eg ba sic; special responsibility;
travelling and subsistence) normally payable to him/her will be
withheld by the authority for the duration of the suspension
period.

PART YEAR ENTITLEMENTS
10.1

11.

A councillo r may, by notice given in writing to the Chief
Executive, elect to forgo all or any part of his/her entitlement to
an a llowance under this scheme.

If the term of office or duty undertaken by a councillor begins or
ends part way through a municipal year or amendment of the
scheme during a municipal year or changes to the councillor's
responsibilities during the year results In changes in the amount
to which a councillor is entitled, calculation of the allowance
payable shall be on a pro-rata basis having regard to the
proportion that the term of office, period of duty or relevant
periods of the scheme bear to the municipal year in which they
occur.

CL.AIMS AND PAYMENTS
11.1

Payment of the basic and s pecial responsibility allowances and
the co-optees' allowance and Independent Person/Deputy
Independent Person allowance e shall be made in twelve equal
monthly instalments on or around 26th day of each month,
subject to the arrangements for part year payment provisions set
out above.

11.2

Claims for dependents' carers' and travelling and subsistence
allowances under this scheme will need to be submitted in
writing (using the prescribed claim form) to Member SeNices
within one month at the end of each financial quarter (June,
September, December, March) to which the claim relates.

11.3

Where a member of Fenland District Council is also a member
of another local authority, (s)he shall not receive allowances
from more than one authority in respect of the same duties.

6 Amendment approved 5"' November 2015

Page: M.6

Block L Version 7
Page 31 of 125

Page 83

12.

MEMBERS' ICT 1
12.1

13.

14.

VVhere requested, the Council to provide loans to Members
which could be repaid over the remaining tenn in office by
deduction from Members allowance to enable them to purchase
suitable devices (to a maximum of £500, upon submission of a
receipt).e

UPDATING
13.1

The basic allowances rates will be increased by 1 % per year
from 1st April 2017-1 81 April 2019, however not exceeding
employee pay awards. In any event employee pay awards are
less than 1% from 111 April 2017, Members' Allowances
increases will match those of employees. Special Responsibility
Allowances will not be reviewed or uplifted each year.e

13.2

The allowances specified in respect of mileage claims will be
linked to changes in the approved rates issued by HM Revenue
and Customs from time to time.

INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL
14.1

An Independent Remuneration Panel has been established in
accordance with the 2003 Regulations to produce reports
making recommendations in respect of this allowances scheme
and the Council must have regard to the recommendations of
the panel in respect of allowances to be paid to councillors.

14.2 The scheme will be reviewed by the Independent Remuneration
Panel on a periodic basis, but not longer than two years shall
pass between IRP reviews, thereby the next review taking place
no later than November 2013.
14.3

Deleted

10

7 Amendment approved � November 2015
8 Amendment appl'OV8d 5" November 2015
9 Amendment approved 5" N011ember 2015
1 o OeletiOn approWld � November 2015

Block L Version 7

Page 32 of 125

Page: M.7

Page 84

15.

PUBLICITY
15.1

The Council, as soon as reasonably practicable after
determining a scheme of allowances, will ensure that copies of
the scheme are available for inspection and publicised in
accordance with the 2003 Regulations.

15.2

As soon as reasonably practicable, in each year, the Council will
publish in its area the total sum paid to each councillor in respect
of basic, special responsibility, travelling and subsistence and
dependents' carers' allowances together with the amounts of co
optees' and travelling and subsistence allowances paid to each
11 Member.

11 Detetlon approwd 5., November 2015

Page: M.8

Block L Version 7
Page 33 of 125

Page 85

SCHEDULE OF ALLOWANCES

The following allowances are applicable with effect from 1 April 2016*:
1.

MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES
(i)

Basic Allowance

Payable to all members
(ii)

£4,771 p.a*.

Special Responsibility Allowance

Payable to the following post holders:
Leader of the Council

£16,509*p.a.

3

••

Cabinet Member

£8,500*p.a.

Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Panel
Vice-Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Panel
Chairman of Planning Committee
Vice-Chairman of Planning Committee
Chairman of Licensing Committee
Chairman of Conduct Committee 3
Chairman of Staff Committee
Chairman of Corporate Governance Committee
Chairman of Council **
Leader of the Main Opposition Group
Leader of other Opposition Groups

£8,000* p.a.
£0* p.a.
£8,000* p.a.

£0* p.a.

£3,274* p.a.
£1,637* p.a.
£1,63rp.a.
£1,637* p.a.
£4, 116* p.a.
£5,706* p.a.
£2,000* p.a.

t

payable in addition to the ·civic Digniaries n allowance paid under
the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972 (see (v)
overleaf)

DELETION •4

•Changes to allowances ap.erovect 5111 November 2015
Amendment approved 26 July 2012
,. Deletion approved 5111 November 2015
3

Page: M.9

Block L Version 7
Page 34 of 125

Page 86

(iii)

Dependents' Carers' Allowance
Payable at actual cost per hour for care of dependents whether
children, elder1y or people with disabilities, while a member is on
Council business.
Individual arrangements can be made with the Council via the
Leader of the Council and Monitoring Officer for flexible financial
arrangements for Dependents" Carers' Allowance which would
not exceed the payments under the current criteria, reflecting the
individualising of social care packages nationally.4(1)

(iv)

Independent Persons Allowance5
Payable to Independent Person advising the Conduct
Committee - £1032* p.a. and for the Deputy Independent Person
£516 "'p.a. 6

(v)

Other Allowances - for information
The following are paid pursuant to the Local Government Act
1972 (approved by the Council at each annual meeting):

2.

•

Chainnan of the Council

*

Vice-Chairman of the Council

£3,900 p.a.
(for 2018/19)*
£1,000 p.a.
(for 2018/19*).7

SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES
For approved duties both inside and outside the District the following
rates apply:

(0
(ii)

(iii)

Breakfast allowance
(where away from normal place of residence between
6:30am and 1 0am)
Lunch allowance
(more than 4 hours away from normal place of
residence including the lunchtime between 12 noon
and 2.00 pm)
Evening meal allowance
{more than 4 hours away from normal place of
residence ending after 7 .30 pm)

£6.06

£8.43

£12.50

*Changes to allowances approved 5'al November 2015
4(i) Amendment approved 5 111 November 2015
5
Amendment approved 261h July 2012
6
Amendment approved 2611 July 2012
7
Amendment approved 5th November 2015

Page: M.10

Block L Version 7
Page 35 of 125

Page 87

Any claim for subsistence allowance must be backed by a receipt for
food or drinks consumed during the relevant meal p eriod. No claim may
be made in relation to any meal period for which the council or any
other body hosting a meeting has provided refreshments.
In exceptional circumstances the Leader will consider and detennine
any variation from the subsistence allowances for Members. For
members of opposition groups this will be in consultation with the
relevant group leader. Where the Leader is concerned, the Chief
Executive or Chief Finance Officer will consider any variation from the
subsistence allowances.
3.

TRAVELLING ALLOWANCES
(i)

Motor MIieage Allowance
The rate for motor cars is 45p per mite for the first 10,000 miles
of travel and thereafter in accordance with HMRC rates.8
Passenger Supplement - for passengers, not exceeding 4, a
supplement of 5.0 pence per mite for each passenger carried.

(ii)

Motorcycle Allowance
The rate for motorcycles is 24p per mite.

(iii)

Bicycle Allowance
The rate for bicycles is 20p per mile.

(iV)

Publlc Transport
For most forms of public transport and the use of taxicabs, the
actual cost will be reimbursed on production of a receipt. In the
case of train journeys, a "rail warrant" will nonnally be provided
by the Council for standard (or second class) fare travel only.
First Class travel Is only permitted when the price of the ticket is
less than or equal to a Standard Class fare. If a Member wishes
to travel First Class, the difference between a First Class and
Standard Class fare can be paid by the Member at their own
personal expense.
In exceptional circumstances the Leader will consider and
determine any requests for first class travel expenses for
Members. For members of opposition groups this will be In
consultation with the relevant group leader. Where the Leader is

8

Such rate to be implemented from and including the 18th May 2011.

Block L Version 7

Page 36 of 125

Page: M.11

Page 88

concerned, the Chief Executive or Chief Finance Officer will
consider any appropriate first class travel expenses.
In the event that a councillor hires a motor vehicle (other than a
taxicab) they shall only be entitled to claim the standard mileage
rate for the distance travelled irrespective of the cost of hire;
unless such hire has been approved in advance by the
Corporate Director/Chief Finance Officer in which case the
actual cost of hire and fuel may be claimed.
The rate for travel by air shall not exceed the rate applicable to
travel by appropriate alternative means of transport together with
an allowance equivalent to the amount of any saving in
subsistence allowance consequent on travel by air:
provided that where the body resolves, either generally or
specifically, that the saving in time is so substantial as to
justify payment of the fare for travel by air, there may be
paid an amount not exceeding:
(a)

the ordinary fare or any available cheap fare for
travel by regular air service, or

( b)

where no such service is available or in case of
urgency, the fare actually paid by the member.

This rate applies if travel results in a substantial saving of the
member's time or is in the interests of the body or is otherwise
reasonable.

4.

OVERNIGHT SUBSISTENCE
Members will be expected to book all overnight accommodation in
advance through member services, however if this is not possible then
the actual cost of accommodation up to the following values will be
recoverable on production of receipts.

Allowance for absence overnight from the usual place of
residence

£92.14

Allowance for such absence in London (within specified
London Boroughs) or for attendance at the annual conference £105.09
of the Local Government Association

Page: M.12

Block L Version 7
Page 37 of 125

Page 89

WC4

Complaint against
Councillor Simon King

Page 90
Page 38 of 125

Section 1: Summary of complaint aplnst Cllr Simon Kin,
Introduction
The file attached contains information in relation to the Member mileage claims of Councillor Simon
King. The information suggests that Councillor King may have submitted overinflated mileage claims
and attempted to claim for journeys outside of the Members' Allowance Scheme_(Document J). The
Information outlines that journeys were claimed for that appear inflated over and above what would
be expected by comparison with Google Maps and journeys were claimed for that are outside of the
scheme; mainly not travelling from home but another start point or travelling to another place which
is not claimable on the way to Council business. The information outlines that there are consistent
claims for differing amounts of mileage from home in Wisbech to Fenland Hall, March. This generally
consists of 26 miles or more. Google Maps states this journey would equate to 22 miles.
Financial analysis of Councillor King's Member mileage claims is Included in the documentation with
an estimated £1511.10 (3358 miles) being inappropriately claimed and paid to Councillor king and a
further £736.65 (1637 miles) claimed but not paid between April 2011 and October 2017.
Councillor King Is an experienced Councillor and was first elected to Fenland District Council in 1999.
Councillor King has held various senior positions including Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and is currently a Cabinet Member with responsibility for Equalities and Transport.
Member Code of Conduct
Councillor King may have breached the Code of Conduct (Document 2) under the following
provisions:
3; 3.2 {e) conduct yourself in a manner, which could reasonably be regarded as bringing your office
or authority into disrepute.
5; 5.1 you must not use or attempt to use your position as a member Improperly to confer on or
secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage.
Members' Allowances Scheme
The Members' Allowance Scheme is agreed by Council following receiving recommendations from
an Independent Remuneration Panel. The current scheme was agreed by Council in November 2015
and Councillor King was present at that meeting.
Section 6 of the Members' Allowances Scheme sets out the rules in regards to claiming mileage and
what constitutes an appropriate journey. Section 6.2 states "... Mileage can be claimed from
Councillors normal place of residence or from a subsequent appointment on Council business.
Mileage can only be claimed for journeys undertaken wholly and exclusively in pursuance of Council
duties as set out at 6.1."
When submitting mileage claims to Fenland District Council, all Members sign a declaration which
states:
I declare that:

Page 91
Page 39 of 125

(a I I have necessarily incurred expenditure on travelling and subsistence for the purpose of
enabling me to perform approved duties as a member of Fenland District Council.
{b) I have actually paid the fares and made the other payments referred to In column 12.
(c) The amounts claimed are strictly in accordance with the rates determined by Fenland
District Council and currently in force.
(d) Statement in this claim are correct and that I have not made and I will not make any other
claim in respect of the matters to which this claim relates.
In submitting inaccurate mileage claims or claiming for mileage outside of the scheme, it
contravenes statements a, c and d of the declaration. Submittlns Members' Allowances claims is the
responsibility of the individual Councillor. The Member Services team process claims and would
consult with the individual member if there were any obvious errors. Mileage claims are checked for
attendance at FDC meetings but otherwise are accepted on face value as Members sign a
declaration that they are correct.
Councillor King has been advised what Is within the remit of the Members' Allowances Scheme
previously (Document 3) and had a meeting with the Acting Monitoring Officer and Section 151
Officer in May 2016 regarding the accuracy of his mileage claims. The submission of inappropriate
claims has continued.

Page 92
Page 40 of 125

Section 2 - Summary of mileage claims and financial impact

The table below illustrates the information gathered from the individual mHeage claims forms
submitted by Councillor King:

Page 93
Page 41 of 125

Mileage Claims from April 2011 - Current

Key: Date of payroll run

I Number of mlles clalmed for that
period
Number of MIies claimed (£)

APRIL2011
NOVEMBER 2011
JANUARY 2012
MARCH2012

�-'

179 (80.55)
190(85,50)
138(62.10)
301 (135.45)

.:
MAV2012
JULY 2012
NOVEMBER 2012
JANUARY 2013
MARCH 2013

I

'

I!'===�

I

Page 94

�RIL2014
I �LY 2014
S&PTEMBER 2014

Number of miles paid by FDC for
that�rlod
Number of miles paid (£)

Difference (£)

179 (80.55)
190 (85.50)
138(62.10)
171(76.95)

'

I

s86(263. 101

1 366 <164.10)
[650_(2��.50}

�198.00)

_

0
0
0
130(58.50)

73 (32.85)
59 (26.55)
51(22.95)
21(9.45)

27 (12.15-) 0
103 (26 Passenger miles)
84 (37.80)
5(; (�5.20}

19 (8.55)(8 Passenger miles)
94 (42.30)(20 Passenger miles)
12 (5.40)(4 Passenger miles)
51 (22.95)
43 (19.35)

t
l

25 (11.25)
0

_ j_I_ _Q_

.

-�

255 (114.75)
53 (23.85)

80 (36.00)

0
0
0

-

251(112.95)
57 {25.65)
117 (52.65}
161(72.45)
1161

- -..L�-

255 (114.75)
80 (36)
53(23.85)

Miles that on further analysis
courd have been challened or
not paid as outside of the
scheme for that period
Unchallenged Journeys (£)

=

. --

---

611(274.95)
366 (164.70)
650(292.50)
(198.00}>
1 440 t198.oo

Difference between
number of miles claimed &
number of mfles Raid �

I

FDC

134 {60.30) (+52 Passenger miles)
107 (48.15)(+52 Passenger miles)
225 (101.25)(+122 Passenger miles) 225 (101.25)(+122 Passenger miles)
159(71.55) (+52 Passenger miles)
56(25.20) (+26 Passenger miles)
343(154.35}
259(116.55)
_109 (49.05}__ . --- _-� .
165(74.2SJ _
-

---

JULY2013
SEPTEMBER 2013
NOVEMBER 2013
JANUARY 2014

\

--

__.._,,.

-

-� � . -

138(62.10
14 {6.3_0)

9 (4.05)

-

-

...__________.l

NOVEMBER 2014
1 JANUARY 2015

!

APRIL2015
JULY2015
SEPTEMBER 2015
DECEMBER 2015
JANUARY 2016

207 {93.15)
716 (322.20)
393 (176.85)
5S9 (251.55)
30S (137.25)

207 {93.15)
716 (322.20)
393 (176.85)
489 (220.05)
51 (22.95) •

0
0
0
70 (31.50)
134 _l60.30]

MAY2016
JULY 2016
OCTOBER 2016

1187 (534.15)
1038 (�67.10)
823 {370.35)
0)

847 (381.15)
550 (247.50)
823 (370.35)
1012 (445.40)

340 (153.00)
488 (219.60}
0

-�-----

APRIL2017
JULV2017
�CTOBER 2Cl

862 (387.90)
1051 (472.95)
-�29 (�83.05)_

{recouped 41) 821 (369.45)
973 (437.85)
568 (255.60}

IW
�

--

-- - -· �

Page 95

• A further 120 miles were not paid as no clarification was given.
�
s,

I

144 (64.80)
87 (39.15)
148 (66.60)
218 (98.101
t . 2 . ;:: s..; ,b

II

1103 (46.35)

I .12� �4-�o)
_____I, _1<> c�1.50>_

----t -,it
-:;:; I
-

11L

"'.t-

141 (18.45)
I 1s (3s.10)
61 {27.45)

97 (43.65)
519 (233.55)
124 (55.80)
116 (52.20)
7 (3.15}

i

...

--

◄ '

� ·I 111

l_ ' '
..__

..
....::.!

Section 3- Analysis of mrleage claims by month -October 2017 back to April 2011
The attached information suggests Councillor King has submitted Member mlleage claims that are
inflated over and above what would be expected by comparison with Google Maps and journeys
have been claimed for that are outside of the scheme; mainly not travelling from home but from
another start point or travelling to another place which is not claimable on the way to Council
business e.g. visiting a constituent.
The infonnation outlines there are claims for differing amounts of mileage from home in Wisbech to
Fenland Hall, March. This generally consists of 26 miles or more. Google Maps states this journey
would equate to 22 miles. There are other routes between Wisbech and March however no
journeys could be found that would result in this amount of additional mileage (Document 4).
Although the scheme does not specify you have to travel by the most direct route, as this is public
money, it would be the expectation that, wherever possible, you would limit the cost to the public
purse when executing your official duties.

)

Page 96
Page 44 of 125

Financial Year 2017/U to date
2017/18 Summary- 2542 miles claimed for; only 2067 claimable z:: over clalm of 475 miles, not
paid 180 miles, received £132.75 not claimable
October 2017- 58" of Journeys mlsc:lalmed
•
•
•

Summary- 629 miles claimed for, only 498 miles claimable = over claim of 131 mlles, 61 mtles
not paid, received £31.50 not clalmabla
12 journeys claimed for; 10 x inflated mileage.
Note. 24/7/2017-Wisbech to cam bridge retum claimed 112 miles; Google Maps states 84
miles claimable.

July 2017 - 53" of Journeys mlsclaimed
•

Summary-1051 mlles clalmed for, only 851 claimable = over dalm of 200 mlles, 78 mlles nl1t
paid, received £54.90 not clalmable
• 34 journeys claimed for; 18 x inflated mileage
• Note. 25/4/17 -Wisbech to Doddington return claimed 57 miles; Google Maps states 30 miles
claimable-Cllr King confirmed he returned via Peterboroush. He was advised this was outside
of the scheme.
• Note. 6/6/17 -Wisbech to London return via Huntingdon station claimed 85 miles; Google Maps
states 64 miles clalmable. Cllr King stated there are a number of different routes and as traffic
was bad he used a different one.
• Note. 22/6/17-Wisbech to March return claimed 38 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles
claimable. Cllr King confirmed he returned via Peterborough. He was advised this was outside of
the scheme.
• Note. 3/7/17-Wisbech to March return claimed 31 miles; Goosle Maps states 22 miles
claimable. Cllr King stated there are many different routes, roadworks hampered his journey and
he sometimes visits a constituent on route. Cllr King was advised visiting constituents is outside
of the scheme.
April 2017 - 75" of Journeys misclaimed
•

Summary- 862 mlles claimed for, only 718 claimable "" over clalm of 144 mlles, 41 mlles
recouped, received £46.35 not daimable
• 24 journeys daimed for; 15 JC inflated mileage
• Note. 16/1/17-Wisbech- March return claimed 36 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles
claimable. Cllr King stated he had to see a constituent on the way. This Is outside of the scheme.
• Note. 24/3./17-Wlsbech-March return claimed 52 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles
claimable. Cllr King stated he picked up a non FDC passenger for the meeting. This is outside of
the scheme and not reflected on the claim fonn.
• Note. 27/2/17-Wisbech-March return claimed 31 mites; Google Maps states 22 mlles
claimable. Cllr King stated he had to see a constituent on the way. This is outside of the scheme.
• Note. 3/3/17 -Wisbech -Great Yarmouth return claimed 174 miles; Google Maps states 160
miles claimable.

Page 97
Page 45 of 125

•

•

Note. 16/3/17 -Wisbech -Wisbech St Mary return claimed 30 miles; Google Maps states 8
miles claimable. Cllr King stated he had a subsequent meeting to attend in March. It Is not clear
if this was on Council business.
Note. 16/3/17 -Wlsbech-Tydd St GIies return claimed 24 miles; Google Maps states 14 miles
claimable.

Financial Year 2016/17
2016/17 Summary- 4060 mlles claimed for; only 2635 claimable = over daim of 1425 mUes, 8Z8
miles not paid, recewed £268.65 not claimable
January 2017 -100% of Joumeys mlsclalmed
•

Summary-1012 miles claimed for, only 794 claimable = over dalm of 218 mHes, received
£98.10 not clalmable
• 29 journeys; 29 x Inflated mileage; 22 of which for March - Wisbech mileage.
• Note. 24/11/16 Wisbech-March return dalmed 35 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles dalmable.
• Note. 29/11/16 Wlsbech-L.everington return claimed 20 mlles; Google Maps states 4 miles
claimable-Note. 4 miles claimed on 10/01/17.
• Note.06/12/16 Wisbech-Norwich return claimed 147 miles; Google Maps states 114 miles
claimable.
• Note. 08/12/16 Wisbech-March return claimed 34 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles claimable.
• Note.03/11/16 - 10 miles claimed for meeting in Wisbech where Cllr Kins resides - maximum of
2 miles would be claimable.
• Note. 04/01/17 Wisbech-Whittlesey return, claimed 45 miles; Google Maps states 33 miles
claimable.
October 2016-83" of journeys mlsclalmed
•
•
•
•

summary- 823 miles dafmed for, only 675 miles claimable = over claim of 148 mlles, received
£66.60 not dalmable.
29 Journeys; 24 x inflated mileage; 19 of which for March -Wlsbech mileage.
Note. 21/7/16 Wisbech-Tydd St GUes return; 26 miles claimed; Gqle Maps states 14 miles
claimable.
Note. 22/7/16 2020 & Civic Reception; 10 miles claimed for meeting in Wisbech where Cllr King
resides- maximum of2 miles would be claimable.

July Z016 •
•

9&" ofJourneys mlsclalmed

SUmmary-1038 miles claimed for, only 463 miles dalmable • over claim of 575 miles,•
miles not paid, received £39.15 not claimable
28 journeys; 10 x not travelling to/from place of residence and 16 x Inflated mileage; 15 journeys
March to Wlsbech mileage.

May 2016 - 96" of Joumeys mlsclalmed

Page 98
Page 46 of 125

•

•
•
•
•

Summary-1187 miles claimed for, only 703 dalmable = over claim of 484 mlles, 340 miles not
paid, received £64.80 not clalmable

27 Journeys claimed for; 20 x inflated mileage.
Note. 11/1/16 -Wlsbech - March return claimed 55 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles
clafmable.
Note. 29/2/16 - Claimed for meeting where apologies were given.
Note. 30/3/16-Rugby to Wisbech claimed 85 miles, instead of O as outside of scheme. This was not paid.

Page 99
Page 47 of 125

Flnanclal Year 2015/16
2015/16 Summary- 2180 mlles claimed for; only 1125 claimable i:: over claim of 1055 miles. 204
miles not paid, received £382.95 not claimable
January 2016 - 1CJOIJG of journeys mlsclaimed
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Summary- 305 miles claimed for; only 164 claimable = over claim of 141 mlles, only 51 miles
paid as no clarification provided, a further 120 miles could have been paid- received £3.15 not
clalmable
8 journeys claimed for; 6 x inflated mileage home to March return; 1 journey outside of the
scheme, 1 journey a repeat from a previous claims form.
Note. 5/11/15 is the same claim refused on the December 201S claim form. The claim has been
changed so it reads that the joumey was from Wisbech to March to Wisbech (which would
comply with the scheme) Instead of Huntingdon to March to London. This claim was refused as it
had been In December 2015.
Note. 3/12/15 Wlsbech -March return claimed 42 mlJes; Google Maps states 22 miles claimable.
Cllr King stated he had travelled via Downham Market. Cllr King was asked to clarify what FDC
business caused him to take this diversion otherwise the claim would not be paid. No
clartfication was provided therefore it was not paid.
Note. 7/12/15 Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Planning Committee, claimed for a £30 taxi and a
£4.20 bus fare. Cllr King confirmed he had attended on behalf of a constituent. Cllr King was
informed this was outside the remit of the Scheme and was not paid.
Note. 10/12/15, Wlsbech - March return claimed 36 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles
claimable. Cllr King stated he took a different route. Cllr King was asked what FDC business had
required the change in route. No clarification was provided and the journey was not paid.
Note. 5/1/16, Tour of Assets, claimed 71 miles. FDC provided a bus for Cabinet to undertake this
tour. On a comfort stop at Fenland Hall Cllr King got in his car and followed the coach for the
remainder of the tour which covered villages to the north of March e.g. Fridaybridge/Parson
Drove. It was understood Cllr King had a dentist appointment and would be late if he had to
return to Fenland Hall after the tour to collect his car. Covering these additional stops by car
would generate appro,dmately another 10 miles above the 22 miles that could be claimed from
Wisbech to Fenland Hall. Cllr King was asked re. the excess mileage and Cllr King responded to
say this was because he had further Council business to attend. Member Services clarified what
FDC business generated these additional miles. No clarification was forthcoming therefore this
was not paid.
Note. 7/1/16 Wisbech to March return claimed 35 miles; Google Maps states {22 miles
claimable. Cllr King stated he took a different route. Cllr King was asked what FDC business had
required the change In route. No clarification was provided and the Journey was not paid.

December 2015 -100% of journeys misclalmed
•

Summary- 559 mlles claimed for; only 373 mlles clalmable = over claim of 186 miles, 70 mlles
not paid, received £52.20 not claimable

Page 100
Page 48 of 125

•

15 journeys claimed for; 12 journeys x inflated mileage; 10 journeys home to March return; 1
journey outside of the scheme - not travelling from home but travelling from another start point.
• Note. 5/11/2015 This claim consisted of a train ticket from Huntingdon to London return, pay
and display ticket for Huntingdon station, and 70 miles claimed from Huntingdon to March.
Further clarification was sought and it was confirmed travel to the Council meeting was from
personal business. Cllr King subsequently requested a copy of the Member Allowances Scheme
which was sent electronlcally with an offer of a telephone call for further discussion. This claim
was outside of the scheme and therefore not paid.
September 2015 - 72" of Journeys mlsclaimed

•

•
•

summary- 393 miles dalmed for; only Z69 miles claimable = over clalm Df 124 mlles received £55.80 not claimable
14 journeys daimed for; 9 x inflated mileage-8 journeys home to March return; 1 journey
outside of the scheme; not travelling from home but travelling from another start point.
Note.29/9/15 - Wisbech to Cambridge return; claimed 116 miles; Google Maps states 86 miles
claimable.

July 2015 -100% of journeys mlsclatmed
•
•

Summary- 716 miles claimed for; only 197 miles claimable = over claim of 519 miles received £233.55 not dalmable
16 journeys claimed for; 7 x inflated mileage - 6 x home to March return; 9 journeys outside of
the scheme; not travelling from home but travelling from another start point.

April 2015 - UJm6 of journeys misdaimed
•
•
•

summary- Calmed 207 mlles; only 110 mlles clalmable = over claim of 97 mlles- received
£43.65 not claimable
6 journeys claimed for; 5 journeys x mileage inflated - home to March return; 1 journey outside
of the scheme; not travelling from home but travelling from another start point.
Note. 19/3/15 Peterborough to Wlsbech return 69 miles cla;med. This would be outside of the
scheme unless travelling on subsequent Council business and going back to Council business
otherwise O miles would be claimable.

Page 101
Page 49 of 125

Flnanclal Year 2014/15

=

2014/15 Summary-1086 miles claimed for; only 480 dalmable over clalm of &06 mlles, received
f272.70 not clalmable
January 2015 - lam£ of Journeys mlsclaimad
•
•

Summary- 410 miles claimed for; only 55 miles clalmable = over claim of 355 miles - received
f159.75 not clalmable
7 journeys claimed for; all for claiming for journeys outside of the scheme; not travelling from
home but travelling from another start point.

November 2014 -1� of Journeys mlsclalmed
•
•
•
•

Summary- Calmed 288 mlles; only 198 mlles claimable= over claim of 90 mlles - received
£40.50 not claimable
9 journeys claimed for; 9 x mileage Inflated - home to March return.
Note. 6/11/14 Wisbech to March return 66 miles claimed; Google Maps states22 miles
claimable
Note. 24/11/14 Wisbech to March return43 miles claimed; Google Maps states 22 miles
clarmable.

September 2014-1� of Journeys misclalmed
•

Summary- aaimed for 53 mlles; only 44 miles claimable = over claim of 9 miles - received
£4.05 not claimable
• 2 journeys claimed for; 2 x mlleage inflated - home to March return
July ZOIA -100% of Journeys misclalrned
•
•

SUmmary-Clalmed for 80 mlles; only 66 miles claimable• over claim of 14 miles-received
£6.30 not clalmable
3 journeys claimed for; 3 x mileage inflated - home to March return.

April Z014-1Dm£ of Journeys mlsdalmed

=

•

Summary- aafmed 255 miles; only 117 miles claimable over clalm of 138 miles- received
£62,10 not claimable
• 6 Journeys claimed for; 2 x journeys mileage inflated - home to March return mileage; 4 x
journeys start point from a place other than home. Note. the difference between 2 same
journeys; 24/4/14 Sutton to March - 52 miles; 28/4/14 Sutton to March - 28 miles

Page 102
Page 50 of 125

Financial Year 2013/2014

=

2013/14 Summary- 2067 mlle5 claimed for; only 1456 clalmable over claim of 611 mllas, 25
miles not paid, received £263. 70 not claimable
January 2014 - 67" of Journeys mlsclalmed

•
•

Summary- 440 mlles daimed for. only 279 claimable = over clalm of 161 mlles, received
£n.45 not claimable
12 journeys claimed for- 5 x inflated mileage, 3 x start/finish point from a place other than
home.

November 2013 -85" of Journeys mlsclalmed
•

summary- 650 miles claimed for, only 533 clalmable - over claim of 117 mlles, received

•

£52.65 not clalmable
20 journeys clalmed for; 16 x Inflated mileage.

September 2013 - 67'£ of journeys mlsclalmed
•

summary- 366 mlles clalmed for, only 309 claimable - over clalm of 57 mlles, received £25.65
not claimable

•

12 journeys claimed for; 7 x inflated milease.

July 2013 -100% of Journeys mlsclalmed
•
•
•

Summary- 611 miles claimed for, only !135 claimable- over clalm of 276 miles, 25 miles not
paid, received £112.95 notclalmable
18 journeys claimed for; 13 x inflated mileage, 4 x start/finish point from a place other than
home.
Note. 16/4/2013 claimed for meeting when save apologies.

Page 103
Page 51 of 125

Flnancfal Year 2012/2013
2012/13 Summary-1026 miles claimed for; only 537 claimable = over claim of 489 mlles, 270
mlles not paid, received £98.55 not dalmable (excl passenger miles)
March 2013 -100% of Journeys mlsclalrned
•

Summary-165 mlles claimed for, only 66 mlles claimable = over clalm of 99 mlles, 56 mites
not paid, received £19.35 not claimable

•

3 journeys claimed for; 3 x Inflated mileage.

•

Note. 06/2/2013 -Wisbech to March return claimed 54 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles
claimable.

January 2013-loo,£ of Journeys mfsclalmed
•

Summary-343 mnes daimed for, only 208 miles clalmable • over dalm of 135 miles, 84 miles
not paid, received £22.95 not claimable

•

12 journeys claimed for; 8 x Inflated mileage, 2 ,c Journeys already submitted in previous mi leage
claim, 1 x journey not present.

November 2012-1oot£ of Journeys mlsclalmed
•

Summary-159 miles claimed for; only 44 miles clatmable = over claim of 115 miles, 103 mlles
not paid, received £5.40 not claimable

•
•

6 journeys claimed for; 2 x inflated mileage, 3 x not pai_d as out of time.

•

Note. Additional passenger mlles claimed have not been included in the calculations.

Note. 13/9/2012 claimed for Councll meeting when gave apologies.

July 2012 -10m' of Joumeys mlsclalmed
Summary-225 miles daimed for; only 131 mlles claimable = over clalm of 94 miles, received
£42.30 not clalmable
•

6 journeys claimed fur; Sx inflated mileage; 1 x start point from a place other than home.

•

Note. Additional passenger miles claimed have not been included in the calculations.

May 2012 -1"°" of journeys misclalmed
•

SUmmary-134 mlles claimed for; only 88 miles dalmable = over clalm of 46 mlles, 27 miles
not paid, received £8.55 not claimable,

•
•

S journeys claimed for; 4 x inflated mileage.
Note. Additional passenser miles claimed have not been included In the calculations.

Page 104
Page 52 of 125

'I

Flnancial Year 2011/2012
2011/12 Summary- 808 miles clalmed for; only 474 clatmable • over claim of 334 mlJes, 130 mlles
not paid, received £91.80 not claimable
March 2012- '"' of Journeys misclalmed
•

Summary- 301 miles claimed for; only 150 miles claimable = over claim of 151 miles, 130
miles not paid, received £9.45 not claimable

•

9 journeys claimed for; 5 x Inflated milease.

January :ZOl:Z - 1Dm' of Journeys mlsclalmed

=

•

Summary- 138 miles claimed; only 87 miles claimable over claim of 51 miles, received
£22.95 not claimable

•

4 Journeys claimed fur; 3 x inflated mileage; 1 x start point from a place other than home.

November 2011- lOfm of Journeys misclaimed
•
•

Summary- claimed 190 miles; only 131 miles claimable
£26.55 not dalmable

= over claim of 59 miles, received

6 journeys claimed for; 4 x mileage inflated - home to March return mileage; 1 x start point from

a place other than home.
•

Note. 29/11/2011-Wisbech to March Return claimed 30 miles; Google Maps states22 miles
claimable.

Aprll 2011-1°'"' of journeys misdalmed

=

•

summary- claimed 179 miles; only 106 clafrnable over claim of 73 mlles, received £32.85 not

•

clalmable
4 Journeys claimed for: 4 x inflated mileage; 3 x home to March return mileage.

•

Note. 24/2/2011 Wisbech to March Return claimed 56 miles; Google Maps states 22 miles
claimable.

•

Note. 01/3/2011 Wisbech to Chatteris Return daimed 70 miles; Google Maps states 40 miles
claimable.

Page 105
Page 53 of 125

Document3
Documented advice and guidance provided to Counclllor Kine In reprds the Members' Allowances
Scheme

05/11/201S Councillor Kins was present at Council during which the Members' Allowances Scheme
was approved.
10/12/2015 Email from Jane Bailey, Member Services to Councillor King advising that claims cannot
be submitted from or to places other than your nonnal place of residence unless on Council
business.
10/12/2015 Email from Carol Pilson, Corporate Director to Councillor King providing a link to the
Members' Allowance Scheme and advising that claims cannot be submitted from or to places other
than your normal place of residence unless on council business.
8/1/2016 Email from Jane Webb, Member Services to Councillor King questioning additional mileage
claimed and stating that visiting constituents does not fall within the Members' Allowances Scheme
and providing general advice that mlles can only be claimed when acting on Council business.
20/4/2016 Meeting between Acting Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer with Councillor King
advising him that he cannot claim for meetings for which he has sent apologies and did not attend.
Request for Councillor King to take care when submitting future claims.
7/7/2016 Email from Jane Bailey, Member Services to Councillor King advising that claims cannot be
submitted from or to places other than your normal place of residence unless on Council Business.
6/4/2017 Email from Jane Bailey, Member Services questioning additional miles.
7/7/2017 Email from Jo Goodrum, Member Services to Councillor King questioning additional miles
claimed and signposting the Members Allowances Scheme is set out at Part 6 of the Constitution and
that visiting constituents is outside of the scheme. Also advised that claims cannot be submitted
from or to places other than your nonnal place of residence unless on Council Business.

Page 106
Page 54 of 125

Document4
Possible routes and mlleage from Wlsbech to Fenland Hall, March
1. South Brink/A47/A141/Wlsbech Road/Norwood Road/Roblngoodfellows Road/County Road=
10.7 miles one way or 21A mites Return
Z. South Brink/Redmoor L.ane/Coldham/Elm Road/County Road = 10.1 miles one way or 20.1 mlles
retum
3. South Brink/Churchill Road/Elm/Coldham/Elm Road/County Road= 10.8 miles one way or 21.&
mlles return

4. North Brink/Barton Road/Wlsbech St Mary/Tholomas Road/Guyhirn/Ring's End/A141/Wlsbech
Road/Norwood Road/Robingoodfellows Road/County Road= 12.l miles one way or 24.6 miles
retum
5. South Brink/ A47/A141/Twenty Foot Road/Elm Road/County Road= 10.6 mtles one way or 21.1
miles return

Page 107
Page 55 of 125

Claims submitted for the financial year 2011/12

Page 108
Page 56 of 125

Page 109

Page 110

Page 111

Page 112

Claims submitted for the financial year 2012/13

Page 113
Page 61 of 125

Page 114

Page 115

Page 116

Page 117

Page 118

Claims submitted for the financial year 2013/14

Page 119
Page 67 of 125

Page 120

Page 121

Page 122

Page 123

Page 124

Page 125

Claims submitted for the financial year 2014/15

Page 126
Page 74 of 125

Page 127

Page 128

Page 129

Page 130

Page 131

Claims submitted for the financial year 2015/16

Page 132
Page 80 of 125

Page 133

Page 134

Page 135

Page 136

Page 137

Page 138

Page 139

Page 140

Claims submitted for the financial year 2016/17

Page 141
Page 89 of 125

Page 142

Page 143

Page 144

Page 145

Page 146

Page 147

Page 148

Page 149

Page 150

Page 151

Page 152

Page 153

Claims submitted for the current financial year 2017

Page 154
Page 102 of 125

Page 155

Page 156

Page 157

Page 158

Page 159

Page 160

Page 161

Page 162

WC5
STATEMENT
FRONT COVER

Case Ref:
Name:

Carol Pilson

Position Held:

Monitoring Officer

w1lk1n chapman llp
Cartergate House,

solicitors

26 Chantry Lane,
Grimsby
DN31 2LJ

a limited llablllty partnership registered In England number OC343261
authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authortty

Page 1 of6

Page 163
Page 111 of 125

wIlk1n chapman llp
solicitors

Statement of: Carol Pilson
1.

l am the Corporate Director and Monitoring Officer for Fenland District Council.
have been Monitoring Officer since February 2015.

2.

On 24 November 2017 I raised a complaint concerning the conduct of Councillor
Simon King in relation to the submission of mileage claims which appeared to have
been overinflated as well as attempting to claim for journeys outside the Members'
Allowance Scheme equating to £1511.10 (3358 miles) paid to Councillor King and
£736.65 ( 1637 miles) claimed but not paid between April 2011 and October 2017.

3.

The Members' Allowances scheme is agreed by Council following the receipt of
recommendations from the Independent Remuneration Panel. It was last agreed on 5
November 2015. The scheme includes a range of provisions but those particularly
relevant to this complaint are Section 6 Travelling and Subsistence Allowances.

4.

Section 6.1 sets out the meetings that can be claimed for under the Members'
Allowances Scheme. Section 6.2 makes clear that mMileage can be claimed from
Councillors normal place of residence or from a subsequent appointment on Council
business. Mileage can only be claimed for journeys undertaken wholly and
exclusively in pursuance of Council duties as set out in 6.1."

5.

The background to the complaint is as follows:

6.

Discrepancies in Councillor King's mileage claims were brought to my attention by
the Member Services team who process claims for all Councillors. I was concerned
by the fact that despite on numerous occasions Councillor King being advised of
what was acceptable in terms of appropriate mileage claims, incorrect claims
continued to be submitted. The details of this advice are provided at Document 3 of
the original Conduct complaint. To my knowledge, I have not been informed of any
occasions when Councillor King has sought advice on his mileage claim before
submitting it for processing. No other Councillors have been brought to my attention
as having a high number or repeated number of discrepancies within their claim
forms.
Page 2 of6

Page 164
Page112of125

7.

To establish the seriousness of the issue I asked for an analysis of Councillor King's
mileage claims from April 2011 up to the present (October 2017). This provided a
whole term of office (2011-2015) amount of data and would allow any trends to be
detected. This analysis showed a significant level of misclaiming since 2011/12 as
per the table below:

8.

Year

% of journeys misclaimed

2011/12

96%

2012/13

100%

2013/14

82%

2014/15

100%

2015/16

91%

2016/17

94%

The analysis showed that Councillor King had claimed for journeys that appeared
inflated over and above what would be expected by comparison with Google Maps
and journeys were daimed for that were outside of the scheme; mainly not travelling
from home but another start point or travelling to another place which is not daimable
on the way to Council business. The Information outlined that there were consistent
claims for differing amounts of mileage from home in Wisbech to Fenland Hall,
March. This generally consists of 26 miles or more for a journey Google Maps states
could be achieved within 22 miles.

9.

A summary of the analysis of mileage claims by financial year showed the following:
Financial
Year

No

of Difference

of No

miles

miles paid

between

MIies
miles analysls

on
that

further
could

clalmed & miles have been challenged

claimed

paid

or not paid as outside
of the scheme

2011/12
2012/13
2013/14

808

678

130

204

(£363,60)

(£305.10)

(£58.50)

(£91.80)

1026

756

270

219

(£461.70)

(£340.20)

(£121.50)

(£98.55)

2067

2042

25

586

Page 3of6

Page 165
Page113of125

of

Financial No

of

mlles paid

mlles

Year

No

Miles

Difference
between

on

miles analysis

that

further
could

claimed & miles have been challenged

claimed

paid

or not paid as outside
of the scheme

2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017

(£930.15)

(£918.90}

(£11.25)

(£263.70)

1086

1086

0

(488.70)

{£488.70)

606

2180

1856

(£981.00)

(£835.20)

4060

3232

828

597

(£1827)

(£1454.40)

(372.60)

(268.65)

2542

2362

180

295

(£272.70)
204 (£91.80)

(£382.95)

(£1143.90) (£1062.90)
Total

12,012

13,769

851

(£6196.05) (£5405A0)

(£81)

(£132.75)

1637

3358

(£736.65)

(£1511.10)

___...;.i.-

10.

Journeys of note are outlined in the conduct complaint in section 3 Analysis of
mileage claim by month however examples of very high mileage claims for the
journey from Wisbech to Fenland Hall, March where a claim of 22 miles would be
expected include:
a. 56 miles claimed February 2011
b. 54 miles claimed February 2013
c. 66 miles claimed November 2014
d. 43 miles claimed November 2014
e. 35 miles claimed November 2016
f.

34 miles claimed December 2016

g. 52 miles claimed January 2017
h. 38 miles claimed June 2017 - Cllr King confirmed he returned via
Peterborough.
11.

The use of Google Maps in this analysis was to provide an objective tool by which
the mileage claimed could be assessed. Google Maps is widely accepted as an
accurate tool that in these circumstances many organisations would use for this
Page 4 of6

Page 166
Page 114 of 125

purpose. This was to assist those making a decision in relation to this conduct case
to make an interpretation of the situation of how many miles that journey could be
achieved within versus the mileage claimed.
12.

Other examples from the analysis that were particularly concerning were:
a. April 2017 -claiming 57 miles instead of 30 miles
b. November 2016-claiming 20 miles instead of 4 miles.
c. November 2016 & July 2016- claiming 10 miles for meetings in Wisbech.
d. December 2015/January 2016 - this claim consisted of a train ticket from
Huntingdon to London return, pay and display ticket for Huntingdon station
and 70 miles claimed from Huntingdon to March. Cllr King confinned he was
travelling from personal business and this was not paid. This same claim was
submitted again in January 2016 but the journey alte�ed to read Wisbech to
March to Wisbech (which would comply with the scheme) instead of
Huntingdon to March to London. This claim was also refused.
e. January 2016 claimed 71 miles instead of 32 miles and it is understood to
have attended a dentist appointment in Peterborough.
f.

Numerous journeys claimed not from place of residence but from another
place e.g. Rugby, Swaffham, Cambridge, Leicester etc.

13.

No detailed explanation has been provided by Councillor King in regards to many of
these journeys.

14.

Based on the analysis found, I sought external legal advice and advice from the
Deputy Monitoring Officer, Stephen Gerrard as to how this matter should be dealt
with. After careful thought and considering the financial nature of the issue and the
quantity of potential misclaiming, it was considered appropriate that a conduct
complaint should be raised.

15.

Due to this issue potentially being a criminal matter (potential fraud), I requested
advice from the Police as to whether they wished to pursue the matter so that any
conduct process would not fetter a police investigation. The police stated they wished
to assess the information therefore the conduct process was paused whilst this
occurred and resumed once the Police had completed their enquiries.

Page 5 of6

Page 167
Page 115 of 125

16.

As Monitoring Officer, l have no fonnal decision making power in relation to resolving
complaints; this is reserved for Councillors once the formal stage is reached
therefore it was my role to collate the information found and put to the relevant part of
the Council for assessment and determination.

17.

Due to the potential seriousness of the complaint, it could not be resolved informally,
therefore at that point I removed myself from the process and the Deputy Monitoring
Officer, Fiona McMillan led on the process.

18.

When the conduct complaint was raised with Councillor King in November 2017, as
well as being provided with the details of the complaint, Councillor King was also
given a list of journeys and the mileage that would be acceptable for those journeys
in future. This was to support Councillor King in submitting accurate mileage claims
in the future given the information found regarding the past accuracy of his mileage
claims. Councillor King has not complied with those mileage limits for journeys from
Wisbech to March return. In January 2018, Councillor King submitted a further
incorrect mileage claim. Councillor King claimed for a total of 360 miles which on
further analysis only equated to 290 miles, en over claim of 70 miles or £31.50.

I Carol Pilson declare that this statement is true and accurate
to the best of my knowledge and belief.

.

(,th-

J/b/2ol'g

Signed ............................................ Date ............................

Page 6 of6

Page 168
Page 116 of 125

Appendix C

WC6
27 Nodh Brink
�
PE131JR
30'-Novelnber-2017
DearCarDI.
TIWllt you fer your emal d lie 24,. Nov8mber clafyt1g ,car poalllan. Thia .... ii my
lnilial NSpol'll8 to the COfflFllld. In accardlnce Yfflh paragraph 6.2.5 d the Conduct
Comrnltlae Procadurea.
I am COIIClfflld that tis rapcnae fl beng made ID you Jn your --=tty as McnbinQ
Officar when you ar9 lllo Ill eftilcllve �mnt. which dOel not aaerrt to be a Jll'DP8I'
CDUrU at IICtlan 11'\der'the pracmn. Thit is prdaabtJ ol lltlle fmportanca r thia mlllter can
be NIOfwd WOnnaly, but f formal pmcamns fallow, ellW wllin 1he Coundl or tlXlarnllly,
1hln tis may IIIUfflll a,ulai' '11POf1111Ct and may become a lftllllllal Jaclor.
I am exllamely aorry tt1lt tu mat111t has elClll8tlld ta thl mcfllnt that It ha beccnie
neceua,y fOr a formal � to be ralled IQllffllt 1111 and 1M � amount d
offlcels' time 1h18 matllr ha talal up aa far. I have done my best to con,,ly with a Policy
and claim form that to me lick dlltty and with anlicllna acMce.
My 1n111a1 respon18 l.a1dar' 116 tanns of paragraph 5.2.5 ... fallawa:..
1.

I 8Qf'N that I hlM IUbmlt.ted tha dalm farms All'enal to, m Fenland DJnltt Cauncl.
llnd that I have IIIOllvad the paymenll lblted In b doamlnts provided with the
mmpln1l

2.

I accept that some of the c:lan may have been a,ftlde ta Cllllcers' �d
lhe tarms cl tie Membn � a:heme Palley. Wha ttis hll occurred,
offlcars have dlallkMed the c:lllml. and I have acceplld tiL

3.

, accept that aome cf the clam may haw been ror gnNll8I' mleaae, than the
lhallMt diatanca .,__, ht start and end paints d the Jounw,.s dlllmed u lhown
onGoogteMllpl.

4.

case.. for the fallcMfr1I reaaans:-

I do not accept 1hllt mDaeae clalffll are prq::aly lmtted 11D h lhartalt IOlda In 1M11Y

•

l'llfther 1he � or 118 claim fonn ttate that the raa must bl h lhOdut
nxde. If tt111 principle II applied, it lhaU1d be llalllCI dearly h the poky.

•

it ii na1 atwaya posllble ar daanble. to tnwel by tha lhat1Mt PDlllbl• mule.
Ttlfl can be due to 1rafflc rmalderalfOna, road claluree. Wlher, safely
consldenlllanl and Jnrunarable oltMW'fa..._

Page 169
Page 117 of 125

Appendix C

5.

e.

I do nal acmpt that 1tl8 mllelgel lhoWn In document 4 wllnln ht complaint and the
mlleage1 lndic:aad In the Summay M evidelice dovar-dllirna araCOINCt. It hu not
been pauibla In fie time allowed for 1h11 f'8IP0r'll9 ID chack evwy ttem tn tha
SUmmay. bUt aaniples haw Indicated IUffldant dlll'anlncea 11D warrant a thorough
nwiew dthe mHugu &etout In 1t18 81.mmary.

r do nat accept

that._. ta bnn any irtent on my part to deceive Fanland otatrtct

cauncu or to dalm men 18\ Iha rnleaga ID which I wculd be enlflled &.IKlel" the

polcy. The dlJm form and Its dednlDn require me to &ta1a accuratefy my start and
end pol1tl and mileage. I haw dane this in each caee entirely openly so that the
offlcera can camscfly apply the Poky and natea to my jolffleys.
7.

it.-

Whilst the Polley stmes what can be claimed, 1t doee not atate that this Ill e>chaultlve,
nor dou
what. cannot be dalmed. Farwlple. It Is not delrfl'Dm the policy
whether' Iha effect d a demur tai.n b8l'or9 nr after• Councll meeting 11D conlUlt wllh
or Worm a conetlt&Jent In ftllatlOn to that meattno would wholly dllallaw • dalm for
that joumay.

For 111e pwpow d fubn duns for trawl mcpaclN8, I wm camply atf1Clly wlttl 1ha Pclcy aa
sat out and wilh the lnlllNctlons d officn. In hit I wlU:
(a)

dllh1I my elr8Ct mluge to and fforn �Id 1-bff frOm my home whldt wwd not
normallye,aed 26 mllea;

(b)

macfude flan
CIDtlllltulnta;

(c)

clafm only In reapect fl jcuneyl flotn my lane 1D and fnJm Fen.lend Hall and not
from cfler points cf depar1Ur9.

an, future dalm

any dlllours made from my normal l'OUta 10 Yllft

Far Iha 1'881Qnl - out above. I do not accept that I hava over-clainad Md been overpaid
any tnlvef apenus. It Iii rollble that� Diltrid Councl has net made q requ8tl to
ma for rapayrnant d any w overpaid, and hM proceeded with the luue of I cornplalN.
As ft II fn the belt II__,. of Fenland Dlatrk:t Courd to bring 1h11 fflllllr ID Ill 81Je8dlesl
ponllle l8IOIU1Jon, entnlJ wiltD.Jt aocepdng a,y llabllly or obllgdcrl an my part to dO .,_ I
haw today paid to Fenland Oislrict Ccuncll 1ha sum of £1,511.10, ecpvalent ID 1he entn
amcutt alleged 10 haw been CMMJ)lid to me.

Page 170
Page 118 of 125

Appendix C

WC7

.,.Febnay2017
DearMI MaMllan
Ma&lplflld In Yo'l' ..... 1D mydallordafld IJt" .feruary2118, 1111 lea furllerwrftlan rNJIOl1I&
1D lhe camplant made llgllnltme hit J ,-.. IINChad Ille Membart CocJe dQnfucl

rn lfmple terma. tha IIIIIGldanl � die to tta comlfUlt-tllat

(•)
(b)

I haWcMnad lrawll ape11111fatJuneya flam ■lfllrtfr'1 polrllofa'tfaan myhame; and

b.,.GIIIIIHld._..,..... 1armrmttanwwldb6wa,.llldbJlhllhartNtml1ap
balHlllrt my hGme and tha Nllevanl deelNllon. fndlclillld Gn Goagie Maps.

M • pnftldrayfflltlll'(beb9Gal1lldlr1nQ bDlh h IUbllllnlM. alts,allonl andltw aarnplalnt). ft 11
nec11rary1D cuillcllr and decide t.voinllmtllllll �b• a tblluws:
(1)

Whatll lhacarract inlapMlllllan offlllllarid DlllltctCOuncl'I MemW.AIIDwa•8ah8ITle
lravelPQllcr?

(2)

Ha. Faatd Drntat Caunc:l adopled .,.._ that
(a)
(b)

amemberma,-.ntlM 811Pffl1■1 cnyfartraWlf cnhelulNtpa1■lble raut1
fmm a.lllkWa\t.,_ ldlltDthe ......... lft8IP8CIN dthe actual 111U1B

--=far___,

Goode Mllpsa hatandardby.ttillll'l)'mlllllgaclun byfflllfflba'l lt--NCI

am.. 1.2 rl .. pallay11811a:

,,--,11y,_,.
........ ••
artum
• •...,_,.,.,.,,,..an

be,_,. on,_

•M..,.,lorntlfll.,,.,... 111111 ...,,,,,. """'1d
IA:lfap,Mw.atn_,,,#11111
cm I» ole/ntedf'lln Caunclbanont#ll,_.d,...,,_
Olutllll,.,.._ UfNJl8.,, o,aftbedllmedlor/olltneya
,..,,.,_wldyand-,;/fllbely/np,nutlRflll da.n:hGUINu-,autil a 1'.

In the oomlliUlt. 1111 llanllar"V 0fflalr lmilrpNla 119 aaoand --• dClauN·U • 111811nir11 lfWJt
a CDuncll« Ilg.,._. m c:tarmlnMl..-,111 -� �--et.11111 Ccunc:llm-a
home. ar 1111rt1rV al 1118111111 an Ccud bullnlN tD which .. CGunallarffl"llldfmm hll er tw
tane.
am,,lyonthe balll d1'8 lanQu1111J8 UNd In th9 cllule, In onllrfcl' .. ManlDrttg Olllcll't
••µ•llllan 1D be CIOfflNII, Ill ........ ahDuld reacl!

a

be cllhed hm Ill Ccudcn nannllll·Dllcl of l"llitlllCI..•• •whiafl la ..
•1■111111' can
phraeology Ullld In the dml ..,..a cl Paragraph 1.2.

Page 171
Page 119 of 125

AppendlxC

H II lellfllrntll8 tD elk Ytt,y the 18C1Dnd llntllnce d clauie 82 B been Inserted In lhe policy.
My 1c1c1tor has lnl8rvlewed MJW NfColl earwe1. who was the Chairman or the lndapendent
Remuneration Committee which eat In 2011 ID ..,_ a nwiNd Marnbanl Alowance Palley. It was
ltlrtng 1h11 RevleW that ClaUN 8.2 w 11'118118d, ttb Barwell hal c:onilimed lhat the rauon for the
I� afthe aeoond NmllllCIBWBI ta claril'y1hat, '"conllasl ID employs•. COUncllcn &n9
permllfld to clalm 1ravll1 axpenaes
homellddr8ll 1Dh Cauncl oftlaea.

tam._

Aa ls waM known. employees ana nat permia.d to dalm tnMJI e,rpenll88 for nvel from their home to
thelr ncrmal place Df work.
Mrs BarWIIII ta also conlhned to my IGlldlar 1h11 her lntmpuatb, d the lraval pallcy II th9t
Coundlcn &hould be able lo clalm 1r8VBI acpertl8I to meelJ!'VI an Cauncn bUSNIII from IIIY
.tarting point. whethar It be thelr hom9. fw plam d work or aleaTJhln.
It ii oo 118 oeee that the travel po11c1e1 fDI' cambl1dgalfln ecan, Councl, 9o1ougt1 dklng's Lynn
& Welt Norfolk, Saulh Norfolk DIBtlfat Council 111d e.t Camlmdgelhlre Dlalct Councll do nol
C0111an any form of N8lrdan wHch anly permlla travel mcpenw to be dalrned far Joumeya to
CounclJ bllaNBS flam Iha Cauncllloft hDIM addrala.
Theall ara nat llated as Polclea In Che FDC Mambera Allwanae Soheme.
No propallll haa 811111' bean made to Counclkn 1D adopt pollclaa In Ihm fame. When Iha Membln
Mowanoe Scheme was revl8w8d In 2016, nelhll' of these palkllel was propoMCI for C0l'1llderatloli.
At no time haV9 thlle pallclU been dn:ulmed or notified tD Membare.
a.Ila amply, the piqalllona at 2 (a) and (b) above are nat pollalaB of Fenland Dlllrtct Cauncll.
CINriy It II open ta Ccluncllkn and offlollB to piopoae ht adapllon dam pa11c1a9. but 1h11 hall not
been done. The Judgment 1D be mad• II nal v.flllllw It fl dalmble thatttw aho&ld beth& pollalas of
FDC. but l'lltherMllltharthey .. thl pollc:lel d FOO.
TNI II an example of palliclel being cnaflJd and IIPPlled by an afflcer of Che CGlmal which have nat
bNn apsaU¥8d byCalm'lkn.
CpnclyllPo
A serious aomplalnt hll8 been mada agalnat me by lhe Monitorq Officer al Fenland D.rk:I Council.
1hat cornplalnt II blllad on a IIIW8d bdlllpre1alan of 1111 Coundl'I pallay, encl the applca1lorl d
pcftdN which .,. not lhe appraved palcy af FDC. The Monllarlng Officer la fwltatmaare COhfmted
by erna1 hd Ul8l8 poRcfal hlmt not bNn e,pilad 1D the tnMI 8ICJ>ll• dalma rlany other Memberl.

Thi� Offloer,-.. outllde hlr remit under 15 Locel Gouer11nent n Housing ld.1G89
(and lfwl1lvl her raml-whlch I clapl"8-than nutaatq In acmrdance wlh Iha pnMltcn al 86 (2)
and (3). and acllnoln bl.aatl ah21(4) oft. Loaalllm Ad 2011)haueparted thltaomplalntto the
palce.

8lr'ICe I have rd l:naahed q Ccurd pollcy In 18fatlon ta my travel axpansa clalmt. I ,.. not
bnlaChed the Membe1'1 Code of canduat. and the aomplalntagatnet me ta wholly wllhaut fDundallon,
and Indeed Is vexalloul and ahauld nut DD any bibs.

Page 172
Page 120 of 125

WC8
Questions for Councillor King
1. On the 24th of November 2017 a complaint was made against you in relation to the
submission of mileage claims which appeared to have been overinflated as well as
attempting to claim for journeys which were outside the Members allowance scheme
equating to £1511.10 (3358 miles) paid and £736.65 (1637) claimed but not paid by the
council. This was for the period April 2011 to October 2017. Do you wish to make any
comment on the allegations made?
2. What is your understanding of the members allowance scheme?
3. What is your understanding of what you can and can not claim?
4. An analysis of your claims by month April 2011 to October 2017 suggests that there are
claims for differing amounts of mileage from your home in Wisbech to Fenland Hall, March.
This generally consists of 26 miles or more, google maps would equate the journey to 22
miles. Our information suggests that no other routes could be found that would result in the
additional mileage. Can you provide any explanation as to these claims?
5. Looking at the financial years in detail, can you provide any explanation with regards the
following:•
•
•
•
•
•
•

2011/12 an over claim of 334 miles?
2012/13 an overclaim of 489 miles?
2013/14 an overclaim of 611 miles?
2014/15 an overclaim of 606 miles?
2015/16 an overclaim of 1055 miles?
2016/17 an overclaim of 1425 miles?
2017/18 an overclaim of 475 miles?

6. Looking at some of the claims in more detail, why did you consider a train journey (5
November 2015) from personal business to a Council meeting would be paid as part of the
members allowance scheme?
7. Why did you consider that a claim for a £30 taxi and £4.20 bus fare following your
attendance on 7 December 2015 at the West Norfolk Planning Committee on behalf of a
constituent, would be paid?
8. On 6 June 2017 you claimed for a journey from Wisbech to London return via Huntingdon
station, a claim of 85 miles, google maps states 64 miles, can you explain this?
9. On 5 January 2016 you claimed 71 miles following using your car to follow a bus that had
been provided to 'Tour the Assets'. It is suggested that the claim should have amounted to
32 miles. Can you explain this claim?
10. Finally, can you provide any explanation why you have made claims which clearly do not fall
within the scheme and despite being advised with regards your claims by Council Officers,
you continued to make claims in excess of what was allowed?

Page 173
Page 121 of 125

Complaint Answers

1. Comments on allegations

I used my phone to record council meetings and council business and any non
standard mileage, which I would measure using my car trip odometer. I would not
record the mileage on every standard trip as I was familiar with them and had
measured them and claimed them without any issue since 1999, when I became a
councillor.
I attempted to record matters in a timely fashion, however that was not always
possible, and I would, at the end of an expenses period, usually consult the record in
my phone in order to complete the expenses form for the balance of the period.
For familiar trips I knew the mileages, having travelled them on innumerable
occasions since 1999. I would have originally measured these mileages on the car
odometer but ceased to do so having established the mileages.
In order to travel from my home to the Council Offices in March, I would usually take
a route out of Wisbech via Wisbecti St Mary and Guyhirn to join the March Road at
Ring's End. This route was the most convenient, as it avoided Wisbech Town
centre. This is a reasonable route to take. My route into and out of March would
vary according to the time of day and year and the traffic conditions. There has
never been any issue raised as to these mileages and they were accepted in claims
and by emails as late as July 2017.
The challenging of expenses back to 2011 provides me with some considerable
difficulties in dealing with the precise route used for any particular journey. There
are often when travelling, traffic problems, accidents and road works that make it
expedient to take an alternative route, which is not necessarily the shortest, but may
well be the quickest, or even obligatory if directed by police.
I have never used Google Maps to establish the mileage for trips, using the trip
odometer on my car, when required. I have no knowledge of the accuracy of Google
Maps or of the odometer on any of my cars, although I now understand having
looked into the matter, that odometers may provide as much as a 10% over-reading
of mileages (consistent with a 10% over-reading of speed on the speedometer, to
which it is connected).
It appears to me that the factors of alternative routes, odometer over-reading and
inaccuracy in Google Maps would account for the vast majority of the differences in
mileages.
The policy does not state that the geographically shortest route must be used or will
be paid. Neither does the policy state that Google Maps has any status in relation to
the implementation of the policy, including the route to be used.
I do not accept that the mileages that I have recorded are inaccurate or misleading
or were submitted dishonestly. Further there was no attempt on my part to gain any
advantage for myself, simply to claim for expenses incurred.

Page 174
Page 122 of 125

The expenses form requires that actual departure and destination locations and
times are recorded. I have always recorded truthfully and accurately to the best of
my ability the actual journeys completed.

2. Understanding of the scheme
My understanding of the scheme is that expenses can be claimed for journeys
completed on council business as set out in section 6.2. I understood that I could
claim from home or another location from which I departed to a destination to
conduct council business.
As I understand it, the amendment in 2011 to add Clause 6.2 was a permissive
amendment to make it clear that mileage could be claimed from home (as well as
from other locations) on council business, in contrast to the position for employees.
The claim form provides spaces for actual distances from actual departure points to
actual destinations which I completed.

3. What can and cannot claim
My understanding is as set out above

4. Home Route
I have been making journeys from my home in Wisbech to the Council Offices in
March since 1999, when I was elected a Councillor. At the outset of making those
journeys I measured them using the car odometer. I have no knowledge of the
accuracy of the odometer in the car I used to establish these mileages, although I
now understand that odometers may provide as much as a 10% over-reading.
Further I have no knowledge of the accuracy of mileage readings provided by
Google Maps. This in itself may provide an explanation for much of the difference
alleged in the report. Indeed, considering route 4 on document 4, which uses the
start of the route I would usually use, the mileage is stated as 24.6 miles using
Google Maps. Leaving aside the issue of accuracy of Google Maps, a 10% over
read on my car odometer would provide a distance of 27.06 miles, entirely consistent
with the mileage I have recorded and claimed.
My usual route out of Wisbech is to take the Barton Road out of Wisbech, towards
Guyhirn, joining the March Road at Rings End. This route, whilst not the shortest
route I could take, is usually the most convenient as it avoids the centre of Wisbech,
traffic lights and congestion. It is a reasonable route to take. There is no
requirement in the policy that Councillors must travel by the shortest route available.

Page 175
Page 123 of 125

My route into March depends upon the time of day and year. Some routes are to be
avoided, for example the route back from March along the Twenty Foot Road,
turning right onto the A141 by Hobbs Lot Bridge as there is often a long delay waiting
to make the tum onto the A141.
Depending on the routes I take into March the mileages I recorded were 26, 27 and
28 miles. I have used those mileages since I commenced as a Councillor. They
have always been accepted.

5. General Mileage allegations year by year
I do not accept the suggestion that the amounts claimed are over-stated.
The route I took in relation to home together with errors in reading from my car
odometer and Google Maps would provide an explanation for the vast majority of the
alleged over-stating.
In respect of mileages which were disallowed due to departure location, I claimed
them believing that I was entitled to claim them (see for example my email of 15th
December 2015). I entered the actual departure locations in order that the claim
could be processed. It is for the Council to determine the policy not officers. To my
knowledge no additional clarification or guide to interpretation of the policy has been
agreed by Councillors and issued.

6. 5th November 2015 Train fare
I was acting as a consultant and had arranged a number of meetings in London on
business on that day. I had been recently appointed to the Cabinet. I was
specifically asked to attend the Council meeting. As a result of that request, I
cancelled two of my later meetings in London and attended Council Meeting. As a
result of so doing, I had to travel again to London a few days later to attend the
meetings that I had cancelled. As the policy and claim form are not clear as to
whether I should have claimed for all or part or none of my journey on the day of the
Council meeting, I decided that it was best to show the full journey so that member
services could decide whether to pay all or part or none of the journey.
My understanding of the policy was as set out above.

Page 176
Page 124 of 125

7. '71h December 2015 West Norfolk Planning Meeting
There was a planning application in West Norfolk affecting an area of land which
bordered my constituency. Several of my constituents raised concerns in relation to
the planning application and I attended the meeting to represent their interests,
which I believed was official business. My car was not available as my wife had
inadvertently taken my car keys which I only discovered as I was preparing to leave.
The only way I could attend the meeting in time to make the representations I had
promised was by taxi. I got a bus back after the meeting as the cheapest way of
making the journey home.
I made the claim in accordance with my understanding of the policy as set out
above.

8. 5th June 2017 Huntingdon Mileage
I believe that due to traffic conditions I travelled back from Huntingdon via the A14,
A1 and A47. This was a reasonable route in the circumstances.
I made the claim in accordance with my understanding of the policy as set out
above.

9. 5th January 2016 Tour the Assets
I had to travel from Wisbech to March to begin the tour. I cannot recall all the stops
on the tour to confirm the accuracy of the mileages. I believe that the tour went to
March, Manea, Elm, Leverington and Wisbech St Mary. I had to leave the tour early
because of a personal commitment. As far as I can recall, there was an informal
Cabinet meeting that day and I subsequently visited the locations that I had not been
able to see.
I made the claim in accordance with my understanding of the policy as set out
above.

10. Claims despite advice
As I indicated when challenged about the matter I took the view that the officer's
interpretation of the policy was wrong. There has never been any clarification,
interpretation or guidance issued in relation to the making of claims that was agreed
by Councillors. I always made it clear what my interpretation of the policy was and
made the claims openly.

Page 177
Page 125 of 125

This page is intentionally left blank

Part 3 – Report to
Conduct Committee
dated 4th April 2018
together with the
information appended
to that report.

Page 179

Agenda
Item No:

5

Committee:

Conduct Committee

Date:

4 April 2018

Report Title:

11

Initial Consideration of a Member Conduct Complaint –
Councillor Simon King

Purpose / Summary
● To consider a complaint under the Member Code of Conduct against Councillor
Simon King of Fenland District Council.

12

Key issues
● A complaint has been raised by the Monitoring Officer about the conduct of Councillor
Simon King in relation to the submission of mileage claims which appear to have been
overinflated as well as attempting to claim for journeys outside the Members’
Allowance Scheme which equate to £1511.10 (3358 miles) paid to Councillor King
and a further £736.65 (1637 miles) claimed but not paid.
● Councillor King has been offered the opportunity to provide an initial written response
to the complaint; this is attached together with a further submission from Councillor
King.
● The information outlined above together with the information set out in the appendices
to this report includes:
o

Analysis of mileage claims from April 2011- October 2017;

o The Members’ Allowances Scheme;
o The Member Code of Conduct
o

Advice and Guidance provided to Councillor King in regards the Members’
Allowances Scheme;

o A list of possible routes between Wisbech and Fenland Hall, March and
o Claim Forms submitted by Councillor King; April 2011 – October 2017
● The above documents were considered through the Conduct Committee’s pre-screening
process. The panel of the Chairman of the Conduct Committee, Independent Person and
Deputy Independent Person determined that it was appropriate for the complaint to go
forward for consideration by Conduct Committee as they felt a breach of the Code of
Conduct may have occurred. A note of this meeting is included in the pack which
includes a recommendation from the pre-sift to refer this matter for investigation.
● Councillor King submitted a complaint to the Council on 19 February in relation to the
District Council and its handling of this conduct matter. The letter of complaint and the
outcome of an independent investigation is included in the committee pack for reference.
● The Conduct Committee is asked to consider the complaint and determine what next
steps should be taken.

Page 180

13

Recommendations
● For Members to consider whether to;
a) Dismiss the complaint with no further action taken or;
b) Commission an investigation to consider all of the issues raised and allow the
Member the opportunity to be heard at a hearing

Wards Affected

All

Forward Plan Reference

N/A

Portfolio Holder(s)
Report Originator(s)

Fiona McMillan, Deputy Monitoring Officer

Contact Officer(s)

Fiona McMillan, Deputy Monitoring Officer

Background Paper(s)

Member Code of Conduct
Members’ Allowances Scheme

Page 181

14

Background / introduction

4.1

The Monitoring Officer submitted a complaint about the conduct of Councillor King on the
24th November 2017. This related to Councillor King’s mileage claims. The information
submitted suggests that Councillor King may have submitted overinflated mileage claims
and attempted to claim for journeys outside the Members’ Allowance Scheme equating to
£1511.10 (3358 miles) paid to Councillor King and £736.65 (1637 miles) claimed but not
paid. Councillor King was offered the opportunity to respond to this complaint and these
responses are attached in the agenda pack. Due to the potential seriousness of this
complaint it was not possible to resolve this informally on this occasion and therefore this
complaint has progressed to the next stage of the process.

4.2

The complaint has been considered through the pre-screening process conducted by the
Chairman, Independent Person and Deputy Independent Person on the 08th February
2018. Following an extensive discussion, their decision was that a breach of the Code of
Conduct may have occurred, and they have therefore referred the complaint to the
Conduct Committee, with a recommendation to proceed to an investigation.

4.3

Councillor King submitted a complaint to the Council on 19 February in relation to the
District Council and its handling of this conduct matter. The letter of complaint and the
outcome of the investigation is included in the pack for the committee’s reference.

4.4

Due to the nature of the complaint an independent investigation was commissioned and
as a result the initial conduct hearing scheduled for 27 February 2018 was put on hold,
pending the outcome of the investigation

4.5

Richard Penn, an independent external investigator, was appointed via the Local
Government Association and subsequently undertook an investigation into the allegations
contained within Councillor King’s letter of complaint.

4.6

The independent Investigation has been completed and the resulting report is attached
within the appendices to this report.

15

Considerations

5.1

Members must consider the complaint against the Member Code of Conduct.

5.2

Where Members consider that there is a reasonable prospect that a breach of the Code
of Conduct has occurred they should give consideration as to whether there should be an
investigation of the complaint.

5.3

Members should consider the following points in determining whether an investigation
should occur:
● Is the complaint more appropriately dealt with through another regulatory channel?
● Is the complaint about something which happened so long ago that there would be
little benefit in taking action now?
● Is the complaint too trivial to warrant further action?
Page 182

● Does the complaint appear to be malicious or simply tit for tat?
5.4

Where Members consider that an investigation is appropriate the Deputy Monitoring
Officer will be asked to make suitable arrangements for such an investigation. Members
are asked to give any particular comments on the scope or direction of the investigation.

5.5

If Members do not consider that there is a potential breach of the Code of Conduct or that
there is no reasonable prospect of any breach being disclosed or that the complaint does
not merit further investigation then no further action is taken in respect of the complaint
save for notifying the Member and the complainant.

6.

Recommendations
For Members to consider whether to;
a) Dismiss the complaint with no further action taken or;
b) Commission an investigation to consider all of the issues raised and allow the
Member the opportunity to be heard at a hearing.

Page 183

Contents

Appendix A

Contemporaneous note from pre-screening meeting 08.02.18

Appendix B

Complaint against Councillor Simon King

Section 1

Summary of complaint against Councillor Simon King

Section 2

Summary of mileage claims and financial impact

Section 3

Analysis of mileage claims by month – October 2017 back to April
2011

Section 4

Document 1 - Members Allowance Scheme

Section 5

Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Section 6

Document 3 – Advice and Guidance provided to Councillor King in
regards the Members’ Allowances scheme

Section 7

Document 4 – Possible routes between Wisbech and Fenland Hall,
March

Section 8

Further Documents- Claims forms from Councillor King: April 2011October 2017

Appendix C

Councillor Simon King’s response

Appendix D

Letter of Complaint from Councillor King on 19.02.18

Appendix E

Independent External Investigators report

Page 184

Appendix A
Contemporaneous
note from prescreening meeting
08.02.2018

Page 185

Appendix A

Contemporaneous note from pre-screening of complaint against Councillor King, Fenland
District Council 08/02/18
Present:

Tina Gambell (Independent Person)
Claire Hawden-Beal (Deputy Independent Person)
Councillor Sam Hoy (Chairman of FDC Conduct Committee)
Fiona McMillan (Deputy Monitoring Officer FDC – in advisory capacity)

In line with “Rule 9 Conduct Committee Procedures” in the constitution of Fenland District
Council and under Paragraph 5.3.2 “Initial Consideration of Complaints” a pre-screening
meeting was held on 8th February 2018 to consider the complaint made by the Council's
Monitoring Officer in November 2017 against Council Simon King concerning allegedly
inaccurate mileage claims.
The Conduct Committee Procedures rules (5.3.4) state that “Any complaint where it is
considered that a breach of the Code of Conduct may have occurred, unless it is deemed
vexatious, trivial or tit-for-tat will be referred on to the Committee for further
consideration”
Declaration of Interests:
There were no declaration of interests.
Decision:
A letter received from Cllr King with further submissions on the complaint against him was
read out to the panel.
Following an extensive discussion about the issues raised in the complaint it was agreed that
the complaint could not be described as “vexatious, trivial or tit-for-tat”. It was
unanimously agreed that the following sections of the Council’s Code of Conduct may have
been breached:
•

•

•

The first Nolan Principle – “Selflessness - Holders of public office should act solely in
terms of the public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or other
benefits for themselves, their family or their friends.”
3.2. You must not:(e) conduct yourself in a manner, which could reasonably be regarded as bringing
your office or authority into disrepute
6. You must:- 6.1. when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of
the Authority:- (a) act in accordance with your Authority's reasonable requirements;

The Panel decided to refer the complaint to the Council’s conduct committee for further
consideration with a recommendation that it be sent for further investigation by an
independent investigator.

Page 186

Appendix A

Reasons for decision:
The panel noted the submissions made by Cllr King in his response to the complaint but
considered that the issues raised needed to be properly investigated by an external
investigator who would be independent of the council, due to to the serious nature of the
allegations and as the complaint had been made by the Council’s Monitoring Officer.

Page 187

Appendix B
Complaint against
Councillor Simon King

Page 188

Section 1

Section 1: Summary of complaint against Cllr Simon King
Introduction
The file attached contains information in relation to the Member mileage claims of Councillor Simon
King. The information suggests that Councillor King may have submitted overinflated mileage claims
and attempted to claim for journeys outside of the Members' Allowance Scheme (Document 1). The
information outlines that journeys were claimed for that appear inflated over and above what would
be expected by comparison with Google Maps and journeys were claimed for that are outside of the
scheme; mainly not travelling from home but another start point or travelling to another place which
is not claimable on the way to Council business. The information outlines that there are consistent
claims for differing amounts of mileage from home in Wisbech to Fenland Hall, March. This generally
consists of 26 miles or more. Google Maps states this journey would equate to 22 miles.
Financial analysis of Councillor King's Member mileage claims is included in the documentation with
an estimated £1511.10 (3358 miles) being inappropriately claimed and paid to Councillor King and a
further £736.65 (1637 miles) claimed but not paid between April 2011 and October 2017.
Councillor King is an experienced Councillor and was first elected to Fenland District Council in 1999.
Councillor King has held various senior positions including Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and is currently a Cabinet Member with responsibility for Equalities and Transport.
Member Code of Conduct
Councillor King may have breached the Code of Conduct (Document 2) under the following
provisions:
3; 3.2 (e) conduct yourself in a manner, which could reasonably be regarded as bringing your office
or authority into disrepute.
5; 5.1 you must not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly to confer on or
secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage.
Members' Allowances Scheme
The Members' Allowance Scheme is agreed by Council following receiving recommendations from
an Independent Remuneration Panel. The current scheme was agreed by Council in November 2015
and Councillor King was present at that meeting.
Section 6 of the Members' Allowances Scheme sets out the rules in regards to claiming mileage and
what constitutes an appropriate journey. Section 6.2 states " ... Mileage can be claimed from
Councillors normal place of residence or from a subsequent appointment on Council business.
Mileage can only be claimed for journeys undertaken wholly and exclusively in pursuance of Council
duties as set out at 6.1."
When submitting mileage claims to Fenland District Council, all Members sign a declaration which
states:
I declare that:

Page 189

Section 1

Page 190

Section 2

Section 2 - Summary of mileage claims and financial impact

The table below illustrates the information gathered from the individual mileage claims forms
submitted by Councillor King:

Page 191

Section 2

Page 192

Section 2

Page 193

Section 3

Section 3- Analysis of mileage claims by month -October 2017 back to April 2011
The attached information suggests Councillor King has submitted Member mileage claims that are
inflated over and above what would be expected by comparison with Google Maps and journeys
have been claimed for that are outside of the scheme; mainly not travelling from home but from
another start point or travelling to another place which is not claimable on the way to Council
business e.g. visiting a constituent.
The information outlines there are claims for differing amounts of mileage from home in Wisbech to
Fenland Hall, March. This generally consists of 26 miles or more. Google Maps states this journey
would equate to 22 miles. There are other routes between Wisbech and March however no
journeys could be found that would result in this amount of additional mileage (Document 4).
Although the scheme does not specify you have to travel by the most direct route, as this is public
money, it would be the expectation that, wherever possible, you would limit the cost to the public
purse when executing your official duties.

)

Page 194

Section 3

Page 195

Section 3

Page 196

Section 3

Page 197

Section 3

Page 198

Section 3

Page 199

Section 3

Page 200

Section 3

Page 201

Section 3

Page 202

Section 3

Page 203

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 204

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 205

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 206

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 207

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 208

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 209

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 210

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 211

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 212

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 213

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 214

Section 4- Document 1- Members Allowance Scheme

Page 215

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 216

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 217

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 218

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 219

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 220

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 221

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 222

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 223

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 224

Section 5 - Document 2 - Member Code of Conduct

Page 225

Section 6 - Document 3

Page 226

Section 7 - Document 4

Page 227

Section 8 - Further Documents - Claims Forms from Councillor King

Page 228

Page 229

Page 230

Page 231

Page 232

Page 233

Page 234

Page 235

Page 236

Page 237

Page 238

Page 239

Page 240

Page 241

Page 242

Page 243

Page 244

Page 245

Page 246

Page 247

Page 248

Page 249

Page 250

Page 251

Page 252

Page 253

Page 254

Page 255

Page 256

Page 257

Page 258

Page 259

Page 260

Page 261

Page 262

Page 263

Page 264

Page 265

Page 266

Page 267

Page 268

Page 269

Page 270

Page 271

Page 272

Page 273

Page 274

Page 275

Page 276

Page 277

Page 278

Page 279

Page 280

Page 281

Page 282

Appendix C
Councillor Simon
King’s response

Page 283

Appendix C

Page 284

Appendix C

Page 285

Appendix C

Page 286

Appendix C

Page 287

Appendix D
Letter of Complaint by
Councillor King on 19
February 2018

Page 288

APPENDIX D

Letter of Complaint by Councillor King on 19 February 2018
‘I wish to make a formal complaint against Fenland District Council for failure to act in a
proper and lawful manner in the formulation, investigation and pursuance of a complaint
made against me in relation to my expense claims. The specific matters giving rise to this
complaint are the following:
1. The Members’ Mileage policy was not followed, by disallowing claims I made for
travelling to and from council meetings from elsewhere than my home
2. The Members’ Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims for more than the
shortest google maps distance
3. The Code of Conduct policy and the legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer
in referring this to the police as this was not a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest
4. The Code of Conduct policy was not followed by the Monitoring Officer by involving the
Independent Person before the pre-sift stage
5. Fenland District Council failed to comply with Section 28 (4) of the Localism Act 2011, in
that a complaint of a breach of the code of conduct should be dealt with under the conduct
procedure and not otherwise
6. The Monitoring Officer failed to differentiate her roles as Head of Member Services and
the Monitoring Officer
7. The Monitoring Officer misunderstood the application of Section 5 (2) of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989, and she purported to deal with a complaint arising
under the Code of Conduct in her capacity as Monitoring Officer
8. The Monitoring Officer in acting (albeit improperly) under Section 5 Local Government
and Housing Act 1989, compounded her error by failing to act in accordance with the
requirements of that Section
9. The Monitoring Officer has nominated a person who is not employed by Fenland District
Council to act as Deputy Monitoring Officer contrary to Sub-section (7) of Section 5 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
As this flawed process and baseless allegations have seriously damaged my reputation, the
redress I expect from Fenland District Council is to purchase the front page of both local
papers to print an apology and retraction. I also require reimbursement of all the expenses I
have necessarily incurred both now and until this matter is concluded, to be reimbursed.’

Page 289

Appendix E
Independent External
Investigators report

Page 290

APPENDIX E

Fenland District Council

Review of the circumstances leading to a complaint by
Councillor Simon King against Fenland District Council

Report for the Chief Executive

Richard Penn

Independent External Investigator

March 2018

1

Page 291

APPENDIX E

Contents

Page

1

Introduction and methodology

3

2

The background to Councillor King’s complaint

4

3

Councillor King’s complaint

6

4

My findings in respect of the allegations by Councillor
King about the actions of the Monitoring Officer

12

Appendix
Letter of complaint by Councillor King

15

2

Page 292

APPENDIX E

1

Introduction and methodology

1.1

I was commissioned though the Local Government Association (of which I am a Senior
Associate) by the Chief Executive of Fenland District Council in March 2018 to undertake an
independent review of the circumstances that had led to a formal complaint against the
Council generally and the actions of a Corporate Director and the Council’s statutory
Monitoring Officer from Councillor Simon King, a long-serving member of the Council.

1.2

The complaint was set out in a letter (Appendix 1) from Councillor King to the Chief
Executive dated 19 February 2018.

1.3

The complaint was a complaint against the District Council but made a number of allegations
about the actions of the Monitoring Officer and I was required to review the circumstances
that led to the complaint and to interview relevant witnesses to establish the truth or
otherwise of the allegations on the balance of probability.

1.4

Following the completion of my review I was required to produce a report setting out:
• my findings about the allegations in the complaint
• my advice as to whether there was a potential case to answer which would then need
to be formally investigated in line with the Model Disciplinary Procedure for local
authority statutory officers.

1.5

I met with Councillor King on March 2018 to hear further details of his concerns, and I met
with the Monitoring Officer the same day to obtain her response to the allegations set out in
Councillor King’s letter to the Chief Executive of February 2018. I also interviewed the
Monitoring Officer at Peterborough Council who has been appointed as the Deputy
Monitoring Officer at Fenland District Council and who is now managing the complaints
procedure in this case as the complainant is the Monitoring Officer. The purpose of these
interviews was to establish the facts as far as possible, and to provide the interviewees with
the opportunity to comment on and provide any relevant evidence in respect of the specific
allegations.

1.6

I was provided with a copy of Councillor King’s letter of 8 February 2108, the agenda pack
for the Conduct Committee on 27 February 2018 (that included copies of his letters of 17
November 2017 to the Monitoring Officer and 7 February 2018 to the Deputy Monitoring
Officer and copies of the Members Allowance Scheme and the Code of Conduct for
members. I was also provided at a later stage with a copy of the Conduct Committee
Procedure.

3

Page 293

APPENDIX E

2

The background to Councillor King’s complaint

2.1

As part of her role as Corporate Director the Monitoring Officer line manages the Members
Services team at Fenland District Council, and she became aware of concerns by her team
about Councillor King’s mileage claims. It appeared that Councillor King may have
submitted overinflated mileage claims and attempted to claim for journeys outside the
Council’s approved Members’ Allowance Scheme between April 2011 and October 2017
equating to £1,511.10 (3358 miles) paid to Councillor King and £736.65 (1637 miles)
claimed but not paid. Journeys were claimed for that period appeared inflated over and above
what would be expected by comparison with Google Maps and journeys were claimed for
that were outside the Allowance Scheme; mainly not travelling from home but from another
start point or travelling to another place which is not claimable on the way to Council
business. There were consistent claims for differing amounts of mileage from home in
Wisbech to the Council offices at Fenland Hall, March. The claims are generally for 26 miles
return journey or more, whereas Google Maps indicates that this return journey would be 22
miles.

2.2

It is the responsibility of the individual Councillor to submit Members' Allowances
claims. The Member Services team processes claims and consults with the individual
member if there are any obvious errors. Mileage claims are checked for attendance at FDC
meetings but otherwise are accepted on face value as Members sign a declaration that
they are correct.

2.3

Councillor King had been advised by Members Services staff on a number of occasions
over the last six years about issues with his mileage claims and he met with the Acting
Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer in May 2016 regarding the accuracy of his
mileage claims. However,thesubmission of inappropriate claims has continued.

2.4

The Monitoring Officer told me that it had become clear to her that the scale of Councillor
King’s over-claiming required action and that she had taken legal advice both from
Peterborough Council and from external solicitors to ensure that her actions were fair and
proportionate. She had made the complaint against Councillor King with a heavy heart but
had concluded that it was the right thing to do in the circumstances.

2.5

The Monitoring Officer submitted a complaint about the conduct of Councillor King on the
24 November 2017. Councillor King was offered the opportunity to respond to this complaint
and responded by letter to the Monitoring Officer on 30 November 2017. Due to the potential
seriousness of this complaint it was not possible to resolve it informally and therefore the
complaint progressed to the next stage of the process.

2.6

In line with ‘Rule 9 Conduct Committee Procedures’ in the Constitution of Fenland District
Council and under Paragraph 5.3.2 ‘Initial Consideration of Complaints’ a pre-screening
meeting was held on 8th February 2018 to consider the complaint made by the Council's
Monitoring Officer against Council King about the allegedly inaccurate mileage claims. The
Conduct Committee Procedures rules (5.3.4) state that:
‘Any complaint where it is considered that a breach of the Code of Conduct may
have occurred, unless it is deemed vexatious, trivial or tit-for-tat will be referred on
to the Committee for further consideration’.

4

Page 294

APPENDIX E

2.7

The complaint was considered through the pre-screening process involving the Chair of the
Conduct Committee, the Independent Person and the Deputy Independent Person on 8
February 2018. Councillor King had written a further letter to the Deputy Monitoring Officer
on 7 February 2018 which was read out at the pre-screening meeting. In his conclusion to
that letter Councillor King said:
‘A serious complaint has been made against me by the Monitoring Officer of Fenland
District Council. That complaint is based on a flawed Interpretation of the Council's
policy, and the application of policies which are not the approved policy of FDC. The
Monitoring Officer has furthermore confirmed by email that these policies have not been
applied to the travel expense claims of any other Members.
The Monitoring Officer, acting outside her remit under s5 Local Government end
Housing Act 1989 (and if within her remit - which I dispute- then not acting in
accordance with the provisions of s5 (2) and (3), and acting in breach of s28(4) of the
Localism Act 2011) has reported this complaint to the police.
Since I have not breached any Council policy in relation to my travel expanse claims,
I have not breached the Member's Code of Conduct, and the complaint against me Is
wholly without foundation, and indeed Is vexatious and should not go any further.’

2.8

Following an extensive discussion about the issues raised in the complaint it was agreed that
the complaint could not be described as ‘vexatious, trivial or tit-for-tat’. It was unanimously
agreed that the following sections of the Code of Conduct might have been breached:
• The first Nolan Principle – “Selflessness - Holders of public office should act solely
in terms of the public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or
other benefits for themselves, their family or their friends.”
• 3.2. You must not:(e) conduct yourself in a manner, which could reasonably be regarded as
bringing your office or authority into disrepute
• 6. You must:- 6.1. when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of

2.9

The Panel noted the submissions made by Councillor King in his response to the complaint
but considered that the issues raised needed to be properly investigated by an external
investigator independent of the Council due to the serious nature of the allegations and as the
complaint had been made by the Council’s Monitoring Officer.

2.10

Councillor King told me that he had sent his letter of complaint dated 19 February 2018 to
the Council’s Chief Executive with a heavy heart following the extensive media coverage of
the complaint against him and its reference to the police. He had tried to resolve the matter in
November 2017 by making a payment to the Council equivalent to the amount alleged to
have been overpaid but the complaint continued to be progressed.

2.11

In view of the allegations in Councillor King’s letter of 19 February 2018 it was decided to
commission this review and to suspend the complaints process in respect of the complaint
against Councillor King pending the receipt of the report on my review. Following the
decision to progress the complaint against him Councillor King took extensive legal advice
from a local solicitor and his letter of complaint reflects that advice in respect of a number of
5

Page 295

APPENDIX E

the allegations. I have been provided with an email setting out in more detail the advice he
has given Councillor King in respect of points 5, 6 7, 8 and 9 in the letter of complaint.

3

Councillor King’s complaint

3.1

When I interviewed Councillor King he confirmed that his complaint was against Fenland
District Council for what he described as its failure to act in a proper and lawful manner in
the formulation, investigation and pursuance of a complaint made against him in relation to
his mileage claims.

3.2

However, in his letter of complaint Councillor King sets out a number of specific allegations
(allegations 3, 4, 6, 7, 8 and 9) about the actions of the Monitoring Officer. As a result of my
review and the interviews I held with Councillor King, the Monitoring Officer and the
Deputy Monitoring Officer I have been able gather the following information about
Councillor King’s complaint and the allegations he has made:
Allegation 1
‘the Members’ Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims I made for travelling
to and from council meetings from elsewhere than my home’
This issue is being addressed as part of the Code of Conduct complaint and it would not be
appropriate to prejudge the outcome. However, Councillor King clearly considers that the
policy is unclear. He pointed in his letter of 7 February 2018 out that Clause 6.2 of the policy
states that:
‘All claims for travel expenses and subsistence should be made on the appropriate
claim form and backed by receipts as applicable. Mileage can be claimed from
Councillors normal place and residence or from a subsequent appointment on
Council business. Mileage can only be claimed for journeys taken wholly and
exclusively in pursuance of Council duties as set out in 6.1’.
and that the Monitoring Officer in her complaint has interpreted the second sentence of this
Clause to mean that a Councillor is only entitled to claim travel expenses for journeys
starting either at home or at meeting on Council business to which the Councillor travelled
from home. His contention is that Clause 6.2 should make it clear that mileage can only be
claimed from the Councillor’s normal place of residence. In that letter Councillor King also
claims that the Chair of the IRP told his solicitor that the reason for the inclusion of the
second sentence was to clarify that, in contrast to employees, Councillors are entitled to claim
travel expenses from their home to the Council offices, and that her interpretation of the
policy is that Councillors should be able to claim travel expenses to meetings o Council
business from any starting point, whether that be their home, their place of work or
elsewhere.
The Monitoring Office disagrees with Councillor King’s contention, and considers that
Clause 6.2 is clear. The issue has never been raised with the IRP and it has not proved to be
an issue for other members.
Allegation 2
‘the Members’ Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims for more than the
shortest google maps distance’
6

Page 296

APPENDIX E

This issue is also being addressed as part of the Code of Conduct complaint and it would not
be appropriate to prejudge the outcome. Councillor King contends that the policy should
include a provision that mileage distances should be based on Google Maps or Routeplanner.
As it is currently written it simply states that the mileage rate is 45p per mile for the first
10,000 miles of travel and thereafter in accordance with HMRC rates.
The Monitoring Officer clarified that the claims had not been disallowed and that Councillor
King had voluntarily repaid over £1,500 of previous claims. The analysis of Councillor
King’s mileage claims had been based on Google Maps mileages to provide objectivity. The
Monitoring Officer said that she does not consider that the policy should be amended to
specify the basis on which distances should be recorded as members should honestly claim
the actual mileage involved, and if this is not the shortest distance should be prepared to
explain the reason for this if required. Councillor King had not provided reasonable
explanation for those occasions when he had claimed more than the shortest distance
according to Google Maps.
Allegation 3
‘the Code of Conduct policy and the legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer
in referring this to the police as this was not a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest’
Councillor King claims that the reference to the police by the Monitoring Officer was not in
line with the Code of Conduct policy as the complaint was not in respect of a non disclosure
of a pecuniary interest. He is also concerned that the matter was leaked to the press sometime
after 5 December 2017 and he denied that he had been the source of the leak.
The Monitoring Officer was very clear that if any Council officer considers that something
potentially of a criminal nature had taken place it has to be referred to the police – and not
only if it concerns a non disclosure of a pecuniary interest. The reference to DPI in the policy
is there because of the change in legislation as a result of the Localism Act. The Monitoring
Officer told me that she had been concerned that there had been fraud, she had taken legal
advice from Peterborough Council and externally, and the consensus was that the matter had
to be referred to the police. She had not wanted to prejudice potential police action by
progressing the complaint through the Conduct Committee so the police were consulted but
the matter had not reached the appropriate threshold. For the police to take action The matter
had been leaked to the media but there was no evidence about the source of the leak.
The Deputy Monitoring Officer confirmed that any Council officer can refer possible
illegality to the police at any time, and this does not have to be with reference to a potential
breach of the Localism Act provisions on non disclosure of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.
In this case the matter had the potential to be fraudulent action which is a criminal offence.
The recent case of Hussain v Sandwell MBC confirmed the scope of the powers of local
authorities generally to investigate alleged member impropriety in a ‘pre-formal
investigation’ before moving on to deal with it in accordance with the formal arrangements
under the Localism Act. The High Court held that:
‘Such pre-formal enquiries may be necessary to see whether a complaint brought to
its attention is frivolous or vexatious or whether it even has substance it should be
dealt with by some other procedure or avenue such as civil proceedings in a Court or
a complaint to the police’
Allegation 4
7

Page 297

APPENDIX E

‘the Code of Conduct policy was not followed by the Monitoring Officer by involving the
Independent Person before the pre-sift stage’
Councillor King pointed out that the Conduct Committee Procedure makes no provision for
the Independent Person to be involved before the ‘pre-sift’ stage. Paragraph 5.3.3 of the
Procedure provides for all written complaints to be the subject of a pre-screening process by
the Independent Person, the Deputy Independent person and the Chair of the Committee with
advice from the Monitoring Officer, but Councillor King claims that the Monitoring Officer
inappropriately consulted with the Independent Person in November prior to the prescreening meeting on 8 February 2018.
The Monitoring Officer confirmed that she did consult with the Independent Person earlier
than the pre-screening meeting having taken advice about whether this would be appropriate
given the nature and scale of the complaint. She told me that she had spoken to the
Independent Person on three occasions – firstly to provide the Independent Person with an
overview of the situation, second when it was proposed to consult with the police and third to
advise her that the police would not be involved. The Monitoring Officer confirmed that at no
point had any details of the complaint been provided to the Independent Person. She
conceded that the Procedure did not provide specifically for this kind of informal contact
about potential claims but pointed out that all members of the Council had been informed of
the appointment of the Independent Person through an agenda item at the Council meeting on
23 July 2015, and that the advice note that had been circulated for that meeting included a
statement that the Independent Person would be available to be consulted before the Conduct
Committee makes a decision and that the Independent Person may also be consulted on other
matters.
The Deputy Monitoring Officer confirmed that it is up to each Council to decide what role it
aske that Independent Person to perform in any given complaint and that many councils
involve them from the outset of the process. The Monitoring Officer was the complainant in
this case and was therefore entitled to consult the Independent Person if she saw that as
appropriate.
Allegation 5
‘Fenland District Council failed to comply with Section 28 (4) of the Localism Act 2011, in
that a complaint of a breach of the code of conduct should be dealt with under the conduct
procedure and not otherwise’
This is essentially a repetition of allegation 3 – that the Code of Conduct policy and the
legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer in referring this to the police as this
was not a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest. Councillor King contends that the complaint
against him clearly states that he may have breached the Code of Conduct, and that by
reporting the matter to the police before dealing with the matter under the Conduct
Committee procedure, Fenland District Council has acted in a manner which is contrary to
the explicit requirement of the legislation.
The Monitoring Officer was very clear in her view, endorsed by the Deputy Monitoring
Officer, that if any Council officer considers that something potentially of a criminal nature
had taken place it has to be referred to the police – and not only if it concerns a non
disclosure of a pecuniary interest. In this case the matter had the potential to be fraudulent
action which is a criminal offence and it was entirely appropriate for the matter to be referred
8

Page 298

APPENDIX E

to the police for consideration prior to progressing it as a potential breach of the Code of
Conduct.

Allegation 6
‘The Monitoring Officer failed to differentiate her roles as Head of Member Services and the
Monitoring Officer’
The Monitoring Officer stated in an email of 22 January 2018 addressed to the Deputy
Monitoring Officer that she was acting as the Monitoring Officer of Fenland District Council
in raising the complaint. Councillor King contends that the complainant would be able to
raise a complaint about any member’s expenses at any time in her capacity as the Head of
Member Services and that complaint should have been made in her capacity as Head of
Member Services and not as Monitoring Officer.
The Monitoring Officer told me that Councillor King is mistaken in his contention that she is
Head of Members Services. She does line-manage the Members Services team and became
aware of concerns about Councillor King’s mileage claims as a result of this, but this was not
the reason why she raised the complaint. As Monitoring Officer she is obliged to deal with
about any potential breach of the Code of Conduct or potential illegality wherever it occurred
in the organisation if she was made aware of it. She denied that there had been any failure on
her part to differentiate her roles, and that she had stood aside from the process at the
appropriate time as she was the complainant. Her view is that as Monitoring Officer if she
becomes aware from any source that a potential conduct issue or illegality has occurred she is
obliged to deal with it – a view endorsed by the Deputy Monitoring Officer.
Allegation 7
‘The Monitoring Officer misunderstood the application of Section 5 (2) of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989, and she purported to deal with a complaint arising
under the Code of Conduct in her capacity as Monitoring Officer’
Advised by his solicitor, Councillor King contends that the Monitoring Officer has failed to
understand the extent and limits of her role as Monitoring Officer under Section 5(2) of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, where there is or may be ‘a contravention........ of
any enactment or rule of law’. He contends that Fenland District Council’s Code of Conduct
cannot be considered to be ‘an enactment or rule of law’ and accordingly the duties of the
Monitoring Officer do not arise under that Section. This is entirely consistent with the
provisions of the Localism Act 2011 Section 28(4).
The Monitoring Officer considers that the reference by Councillor King and his advisor to the
provisions of the 1989 Act and the use of a Section 5 report is misguided. The Deputy
Monitoring Officer confirmed that the core legal propriety of monitoring officers as set out in
the 1989 Act is to issue a report (known as a S5 report) in the event of any breach of law, a
statutory code of practice or ascertained maladministration. This is a ‘nuclear option’ and
happens very rarely. The 1989 Act which introduced the role of Monitoring Officers
preceded the Local Government Act 2000 which introduced a Code of Conduct for members
and an enhanced role for Monitoring Officers in overseeing this. This was subsequently
amended by the Localism Act where the role of monitoring officer was further enhanced s
9

Page 299

APPENDIX E

the complaints system moved from a national Standards Board for England to a locally based
system for dealing with complaints and upholding high standards of conduct across the
authority. In summary, the Monitoring Officer was correct in her actions by progressing the
matter as a Code of Conduct issue having first clarified the potential for police action.

Allegation 8
‘The Monitoring Officer in acting (albeit improperly) under Section 5 Local Government and
Housing Act 1989, compounded her error by failing to act in accordance with the
requirements of that Section’.
This allegation is essentially a mixture of allegations 3, 5 and 8 above which have been dealt
with separately.
Allegation 9
‘The Monitoring Officer has nominated a person who is not employed by Fenland District
Council to act as Deputy Monitoring Officer contrary to Sub-section (7) of Section 5 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.’
Based on advice to him from his legal advisor it is the contention of Councillor King that in
line with Section 5(7) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Monitoring
Officer may only nominate a member of her staff to act as her deputy, and furthermore that
deputy may only act in her absence or illness (neither of which is the case here). This section
of the Act was revised to include a new sub-section 7A, which referred to Section 82A of the
Local Government Act 2000. This latter section explicitly allowed the delegation by the
Monitoring Officer of her functions:
a) in any circumstances where the Monitoring Officer considered that she
should not act; and
b) to any person nominated by the Monitoring Officer (whether an officer of
the same Authority or not).
However, as a result of various repeals, the powers under that Section 82A now only apply to
Wales and have no application in England. The original insertion of sub-section 7A gives
rise to some interesting conclusions as follows:
a)

If Section 5(7) were sufficient to permit the Monitoring Officer to
appoint a person who is not an officer of the relevant authority; and

b)

if the Monitoring Officer could appoint a deputy to act under Section
5(7) otherwise than in the Monitoring Officer’s absence or illness

From this Councillor King contends that the powers of the Monitoring Officer are once again
limited to the appointment of a deputy only when the Monitoring Officer is absent or ill, and
that the deputy must be an officer of the relevant Authority. This latter conclusion is
supported by the language used in Section 82A which is different to the language used in s5,
in relation to the appointee as Deputy Monitoring Officer. Section 82A refers to ‘a person
10

Page 300

APPENDIX E

nominated for the purpose by the Monitoring Office’” whereas Section 5(7) refers to “such
member of his staff as he has for the time being nominated as his deputy”.
Councillor King’s legal advisor raised this point with the Deputy Monitoring Officer, who
referred him to the case of Pinfold North Limited -v- Humberside Fire Authority, decided by
the High Court in 2010, as support for the argument that an officer of an authority need not
be an employee, and that consequently the Monitoring Officer of FDC may appoint Fiona
McMillan as DMO. That case related to a Chief Finance Officer who was not employed by
the relevant authority. However, in the specific case, the Judge found that because the
individual was an officer of the authority by virtue of being its Treasurer, he was therefore an
officer who could be appointed its Chief Finance Officer. This therefore implies that in order
to be appointed to a statutory function the individual must be, independently of that statutory
function, an officer of the relevant authority. The advice of Councillor King’s legal advisor to
Councillor King was that unless the Deputy Monitoring Officer is an officer of Fenland
District Council her appointment was ultra vires.
Fenland District Council has a shared legal service arrangement with Peterborough Council
and Fiona McMillan (an employee of Peterborough Council) is very involved in providing
legal advice to the Council as part of that shared service arrangement so the Monitoring
Officer told me that it was entirely appropriate for her to be appointed as Deputy
Monitoring Officer, an appointment confirmed by the Council. The Deputy Monitoring
Officer confirmed that her appointment was not contrary to S5 of the Local Government
and Housing Act 1989 as confirmed by the High Court decision in 2010 which held that a
local authority ‘officer’ does not have to be an employee. The Judge had confirmed that the
term ‘officer’ was not defined in the relevant legislation and that although a council’s
employees are necessarily officers, he found that its officers are not necessarily employees
and there was no statutory requirement that that should be so. The Judge held that:
‘the 1972 Act refers to the duties and obligations of officers who are employees,
there is nothing in the Act which excludes the appointment of an officer who is not
an employee’.
The Deputy Monitoring Officer contends that this case has the same application to
monitoring officers and their deputies as the LGHA 1989 monitoring officer provisions are
also analogous to those concerning chief finance officers in ss. 114 to 116 of the LGFA
1988.

‘

11

Page 301

APPENDIX E

4

My findings in respect of the allegations by Councillor King about the
actions of the Monitoring Officer

4.1

I have carried out an independent review of the circumstances that have led to a formal
complaint against Fenland District Council by Councillor Simon King.

4.2

The complaint concerned a number of actions taken by the Monitoring Officer which
Councillor King claimed to be inappropriate, outside the Council’s policies or ultra vires.
Councillor King has taken extensive legal advice about these actions and his legal advisor has
made a number of contentions on his behalf.

4.3

As a result of my review I have reached the following conclusions in respect of each of the
nine allegations made by Councillor King:
Allegation 1
‘the Members’ Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims I made for travelling
to and from council meetings from elsewhere than my home’
No mileage claims have been disallowed without first consulting Councillor King so there is
no evidence to suggest the current policy has not been followed. The Council’s Members
Allowances Scheme could be further improved by stating that mileage can only be claimed
from the councillor’s normal place of residence or at a meeting on Council business to which
the Councillor travelled from home. I understand that this matter will be addressed by the
Council with the objective of providing clarity to councillors when making mileage claims.
Allegation 2
‘the Members’ Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims for more than the
shortest google maps distance’
No mileage claims have been disallowed without first consulting Councillor King so there is
no evidence to suggest the current policy has not been followed. Again, this is not an
allegation about the actions of the Monitoring Officer specifically as it is a complaint about
the absence of clear guidance in the Members Allowance Scheme. My conclusion is that
specifying in the Scheme that mileage claims should be based on distances calculated
through Google Maps or Routeplanner would further improve the guidance given to
councillors when they make mileage claims. There should still be an acceptance that on some
occasions councillors have to take a different and potentially longer route but councillors
should explain the reason for this if requested. I recommend that this matter should be
addressed by the Council in order to provide further clarity to councillors when they make
mileage claims.
Allegation 3
12

Page 302

APPENDIX E

‘the Code of Conduct policy and the legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer
in referring this to the police as this was not a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest’
Council officers must refer potential illegality on the part of elected members to the police at
any time they become aware of it, and this is not restricted to a potential breach of the
Localism Act provisions on non-disclosure of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. In this case
the matter had the potential to be fraudulent action which is a criminal offence, and my
conclusion is that the Monitoring Officer acted entirely correctly in referring the matter to the
police for consideration prior to progressing the matter through the Code of Conduct process.
Allegation 4
‘the Code of Conduct policy was not followed by the Monitoring Officer by involving the
Independent Person before the pre-sift stage’
The Monitoring Officer did consult with the Independent Person on three occasions before
the pre-screening meeting on 8 February 2018. The Conduct Committee Procedure does not
provide for this kind of informal contact about potential claims but my conclusion is that it
was entirely reasonable that she ensured that the Independent Person was briefed generally
about developments with the complaint. In order to avoid any misunderstanding in the future
paragraph 5.3.3 of the Procedure should be suitably amended to provide for such contact in
the management of code of conduct cases.
Allegation 5
‘Fenland District Council failed to comply with Section 28 (4) of the Localism Act 2011, in
that a complaint of a breach of the code of conduct should be dealt with under the conduct
procedure and not otherwise’
This is essentially a repetition of allegation 3 – that the Code of Conduct policy and the
legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer in referring this matter to the police as
it did not concern a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest. However, if any Council officer
considers that something potentially of a criminal nature had taken place it has to be referred
to the police – and not only if it concerns a non disclosure of a pecuniary interest. In this case
the matter had the potential to be fraudulent action which is a criminal offence and it was
entirely appropriate for the matter to be referred to the police for consideration prior to
progressing it as a potential breach of the Code of Conduct.
Allegation 6
‘The Monitoring Officer failed to differentiate her roles as Head of Member Services and the
Monitoring Officer’
The Monitoring Officer acted as the Monitoring Officer of Fenland District Council in
raising the complaint. Councillor King is mistaken that the Monitoring Officer is also Head
of Members Services although she does line-manage the Members Services team and became
aware of concerns about Councillor King’s mileage claims as a result of this, but she did not
raise the complaint as a result of her line management responsibilities. As Monitoring Officer
she is obliged to deal with any potential breach of the Code of Conduct or potential illegality
wherever it occurred in the organisation once she was made aware of it. My conclusion is
that there was no failure on the part of Monitoring Officer to differentiate her roles, and that
13

Page 303

APPENDIX E

she quite correctly stood aside from the process at the appropriate time as she was the
complainant.
Allegation 7
‘The Monitoring Officer misunderstood the application of Section 5 (2) of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989, and she purported to deal with a complaint arising
under the Code of Conduct in her capacity as Monitoring Officer’
The Monitoring Officer considers that the reference by Councillor King and his advisor to the
provisions of the 1989 Act and the use of a Section 5 report is misguided. The issuing of a
report (known as a S5 report) happens very rarely and would have been inappropriate in this
case. My conclusion is that the Monitoring Officer was correct in her action in progressing
the matter as a Code of Conduct issue having first clarified the potential for police action.
Allegation 8
‘The Monitoring Officer in acting (albeit improperly) under Section 5 Local Government and
Housing Act 1989, compounded her error by failing to act in accordance with the
requirements of that Section’.
This allegation is primarily a mixture of allegations 3, 5 and 8 above which have been dealt
with.
Allegation 9
‘The Monitoring Officer has nominated a person who is not employed by Fenland District
Council to act as Deputy Monitoring Officer contrary to Sub-section (7) of Section 5 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.’
Even though the Deputy Monitoring Officer is not an employee of Fenland District
Council, there is a shared legal service arrangement with Peterborough Council and Fiona
McMillan (an employee of Peterborough Council) is very involved in providing legal
advice to the Council as part of that shared service arrangement. My conclusion is that it
was entirely appropriate and pragmatic for the Monitoring Officer to appoint her as Deputy
Monitoring Officer, an appointment confirmed by the Council.
4.4

I was asked to advise whether my review of the circumstances that led to the complaint
against the Monitoring Officer indicated that there was a potential case to answer that would
then need to be formally investigated in line with the Model Disciplinary Procedure for local
authority statutory officers. Given my conclusions that none of the specific allegations
against the Monitoring Officer by Councillor King amount to potential misconduct or poor
performance by her in her role as the Council’s Monitoring Officer, my advice is that there is
no potential case to answer which needs to be further investigated.

Richard Penn
Independent Investigator
March 2018
14

Page 304

APPENDIX E

Appendix 1
Letter of Complaint by Councillor King on 19 February 2018
‘I wish to make a formal complaint against Fenland District Council for failure to act in a proper
and lawful manner in the formulation, investigation and pursuance of a complaint made against me
in relation to my expense claims. The specific matters giving rise to this complaint are the following:
1. The Members’ Mileage policy was not followed, by disallowing claims I made for travelling to
and from council meetings from elsewhere than my home
2. The Members’ Mileage policy was not followed by disallowing claims for more than the shortest
google maps distance
3. The Code of Conduct policy and the legislation was not followed by the Monitoring Officer in
referring this to the police as this was not a non-disclosure of a pecuniary interest
4. The Code of Conduct policy was not followed by the Monitoring Officer by involving the
Independent Person before the pre-sift stage
5. Fenland District Council failed to comply with Section 28 (4) of the Localism Act 2011, in that a
complaint of a breach of the code of conduct should be dealt with under the conduct procedure and
not otherwise
6. The Monitoring Officer failed to differentiate her roles as Head of Member Services and the
Monitoring Officer
7. The Monitoring Officer misunderstood the application of Section 5 (2) of the Local Government
and Housing Act 1989, and she purported to deal with a complaint arising under the Code of
Conduct in her capacity as Monitoring Officer
8. The Monitoring Officer in acting (albeit improperly) under Section 5 Local Government and
Housing Act 1989, compounded her error by failing to act in accordance with the requirements of
that Section
9. The Monitoring Officer has nominated a person who is not employed by Fenland District Council
to act as Deputy Monitoring Officer contrary to Sub-section (7) of Section 5 of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989.
As this flawed process and baseless allegations have seriously damaged my reputation, the redress I
expect from Fenland District Council is to purchase the front page of both local papers to print an
apology and retraction. I also require reimbursement of all the expenses I have necessarily incurred
both now and until this matter is concluded, to be reimbursed.’

15

Page 305

This page is intentionally left blank

